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Acclaim for Peter Matthiessen’s
LOST MAN’S RIVER
A Publishers Weekly Best Book of 1997

“When you write about Peter Matthiessen, ‘great’ is a word you are sorry to have overused.… He has a genius for turning the story of where he has been into something intelligent and permanent and grand.”

—San Francisco Examiner

“Riveting … Matthiessen has lost none of his skill for describing action.”

—The Washington Post Book World

“Matthiessen is two-thirds of the way toward realizing a monumental portrait of a ruinous time and a nearly ruined place.”

—Outside

“Wild and tragic.… Deeply textured.… We are forced to understand that this is not Mister Watson’s story anymore. It is not even Mister Matthiessen’s. It is ours.”

—The Seattle Times

“Elegant storytelling … deeply textured.… A family saga full of regret and shattered lives.”

—The Miami Herald

“As with Killing Mister Watson … Matthiessen’s loving descriptions of wildlife, human swamp dwellers and the interwoven land and water of the coastal islands … is first rate.”

—Time

“[Matthiessen is] one of our few genuine masters.”

—Thomas McGuane

“An original and powerful artist … who has produced as impressive a body of work as that of any writer of our time.”

—William Styron

“A large, vivid, ambitious novel … a powerful meditation on the sources of American violence. Matthiessen has produced one of the best novels of recent years.”

—Kirkus Reviews (starred review)

Acclaim for

KILLING MISTER WATSON




“What a marvel of invention this novel is … a virtuoso performance. Killing Mister Watson is Peter Matthiessen at his best.”

—The New York Times Book Review

“This novel stands with the best that our nation has produced as literature.… As a philosophical study of the quality of human—and all—nature, it is first rate. As a political allegory, it is stunning.”

—Los Angeles Times Book Review

“Intricately structured, richly documented, utterly convincing … certain to linger in the memory like an experience we have lived through.”

—The Washington Post Book World

“Matthiessen’s moral anguish is inescapable, and he can write like an avenging angel.”

—Time

“An important and deeply satisfying book, and one that may justifiably be compared to the very finest of American novels.”

—St. Petersburg Times

“A stunning, imaginative feat.”

—San Francisco Chronicle

“Brilliant … Killing Mister Watson is spellbinding.”

—The Philadelphia Inquirer

“Powerful and unforgettable.”

—Chicago Tribune

“A work of freewheeling imagination … creating engaging, vivid and convincing voices.”

—The Boston Globe
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Peter Matthiessen

LOST MAN’S RIVER

Peter Matthiessen was born in New York City in 1927 and had already begun his writing career by the time he graduated from Yale University in 1950. The following year, he was a founder of The Paris Review. Besides At Play in the Fields of the Lord, which was nominated for the National Book Award, he has published six other works of fiction, including Far Tortuga and Killing Mister Watson. Mr. Matthiessen’s parallel career as a naturalist and explorer has resulted in numerous widely acclaimed books of nonfiction, among them The Tree Where Man Was Born, which was nominated for the National Book Award, and The Snow Leopard, which won it.
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Author’s Note
and Acknowledgments

A man still known in his community as E. J. Watson has been reimagined from the few hard “facts”—census and marriage records, dates on gravestones, and the like. All the rest of the popular record is a mix of rumor, gossip, tale, and legend that has evolved over eight decades into myth.

This book reflects my own instincts and intuitions about Watson. It is fiction, and the great majority of the episodes and accounts are my own creation. The book is in no way “historical,” since almost nothing here is history. On the other hand, there is nothing that could not have happened—nothing inconsistent, that is, with the very little that is actually on record. It is my hope and strong belief that this reimagined life contains much more of the truth of Mr. Watson than the lurid and popularly accepted “facts” of the Watson legend.

—from the Author’s Note for Killing Mister Watson (1990)

Lost Man’s River is the second volume of a trilogy and, like the first, is entirely a work of fiction. Certain historical names are used for the sake of continuity with the first volume (including the name of the narrator/protagonist Lucius Watson and his family members), and certain situations and anecdotes have been inspired in part by real-life incidents, but no character is based on or intended to depict an actual person, and all episodes and dialogues between the characters are products of the author’s imagination.

Once again, I am grateful for the kind assistance of the pioneer families of southwest Florida, who cheerfully supplied much local information, both historical and anecdotal. None of these friends and informants are responsible for the author’s use of that material, or for his fictional renditions of the life and times of these families and others.

—Peter Matthiessen



For dear Maria with much love and gratitude
for her generous forbearance and great good sense
throughout the long course of this work
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E. J. WATSON

His paternal grandparents:


Artemas Watson (1800–1841) and Mary Lucretia (Daniel) Watson (1807–?)



His parents:


Elijah Daniel Watson (“Ring-Eye Lige”)

b. Clouds Creek, S.C., 1834

d. Columbia, S.C., 1895

Ellen Catherine (Addison) Watson

b. Edgefield Court House, S.C., 1832

d. Fort White, Fla., 1910



Edgar Artemas* Watson


b. Clouds Creek, S.C., November 7, 1855

d. Chokoloskee, Fla., October 24, 1910



1st Wife (1878): Ann Mary “Charlie” (Collins) Watson, 1862–1879


Robert Briggs “Rob” Watson, b. Fort White, Fla., 1879–



2nd Wife (1884): Jane S. “Mandy” (Dyal) Watson, ca. 1864–1901


Carrie Watson Langford, b. Fort White, Fla., 1885–

Edward Elijah “Eddie” Watson, b. Fort White, Fla., 1887–

Lucius Hampton Watson, b. Oklahoma Territory, 1889–



3rd Wife (1904): Edna “Kate” (Bethea) Watson, 1889–


Ruth Ellen Watson/Burdett,† b. Fort White, Fla., 1905–

Addison Watson/Burdett,† b. Fort White, Fla., 1907–

Amy Watson/Burdett,† b. Key West, Fla., 1910–



Common-law Wife: Henrietta “Netta” Daniels, b. ca. 1875–?


Minnie Daniels, b. ca. 1895–?



Common-law Wife: Mary Josephine “Josie” Jenkins, b. ca. 1879–?


Pearl Watson, b. ca. 1900–

Infant male, name unknown, born May 1910. Perished in hurricane,
October 1910.



EJW’s sister: Mary Lucretia “Minnie” Watson, b. Clouds Creek, S.C., 1857


Married William “Billy” Collins of Fort White, Fla., ca. 1880

Billy Collins died in 1907, Minnie in 1912 (both at Fort White).

The Collins children:

Julian Edgar, 1880–1938

William Henry “Willie,” b. ca. 1890–

Maria Antoinett “May,” b. ca. 1892–

Julian and Willie’s “descendants”:

Ellen Collins†

Hettie (Hawkins) Collins†

April Collins†




ALSO: EJW’s Great-Aunt Tabitha (Wyches) Watson, 3rd wife and widow of Artemas Watson’s brother Michael; instrumental in marriage of Elijah D. Watson and Ellen Addison. Born 1813, S.C. Died at Fort White in 1905.




Her daughter Laura, childhood friend of Ellen Addison.

Married William Myers ca. 1867 (Myers died at Fort White in 1869).

Married Samuel Tolen ca. 1890. Died at Fort White in 1894.




* Apparently he changed his second initial to J in later life, dating roughly from his return from Oklahoma, ca. 1893.

† Not real name.
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DEPOSITION OF BILL W. HOUSE
October 27, 1910



My name is William Warlick House, residing at Chokoloskee Island, in Lee County, Florida.

On October 16, this was a Sunday, some fishermen came to Chokoloskee and told how a Negro had showed up at the clam shacks on Pavilion Key and reported three murders at the Watson Place and advised the men that Mr. E. J. Watson ordered his foreman to commit these killings. This foreman was a stranger in our country name of Leslie Cox. When Watson’s friends and kinfolk in the crowd got hard with him, the Negro changed his story, saying Cox done it on his own, but the men concluded Watson was behind it.

Ed Watson was at Chokoloskee when the story came in there about the murders, so Watson said he would fetch the Sheriff from Fort Myers. He swore that Cox had done him wrong, and not only him but them three people he had murdered. This was the eve of the Great Hurricane of October 17. He left in storm before the men got set to stop him, and we thought for sure we’d seen the last of him.

Three days after the storm, Watson showed up again at Chokoloskee. The men advised he better stay right there until the Sheriff came, and Watson advised he didn’t need no Sheriff, said he knew his business and aimed to take care of it his own way. He bought some shotgun shells in the Smallwood store, where my sister Mrs. Mamie H. Smallwood advised him how them shells was still wet from the hurricane, and Watson advised, “Never you mind, ma’am, them shells will kill a rattlesnake just fine.” He aimed to go home to Chatham River “and straighten Cox out before he got away”—them were his very words. To show he meant business, he promised to return with Cox’s head.

Watson was red-eyed in his appearance, very wild, and nobody didn’t care to interfere with him. So Watson headed south down Chokoloskee Bay. We stood on the landing at Smallwood’s store and watched him go, we reckoned he’d keep right on going for Key West, we figured we’d seen the last of him for sure. But four days after that, October 24—last Monday evening—he came back. We heard his motor a long way off to south’ard, and a crowd of men went down to the landing to arrest him. E. J. Watson seen them armed men waiting but he come on anyway, he was that kind.

The hurricane had tore the dock away, weren’t nothing left of her but pilings, so he run his launch aground west of the boat way and jumped ashore real quick and bold almost before that launch came to a stop. He had got himself set before one word was spoken, holding his shotgun down along his leg.

Watson waited until all of us calmed down somewhat and got our breath. Then he told the men he had killed Cox as promised but the body had fell off his dock into the river and was lost. He showed us Cox’s hat, showed us the bullet hole from his revolver. He put his middle finger through the hole and spun the hat on it and laughed. He was laughing at us so nobody laughed with him.

My dad, Mr. D. D. House, was not the ringleader, never mind what some has said, but because no other man stepped forward, it was D. D. House who done the talking. I and my next two brothers, Dan Junior and Lloyd House, was in the crowd. I don’t rightly recollect no other names. Mr. D. D. House reminded Watson that a head was promised and a hat weren’t good enough. He said the men would have to go down there, look for the body. And he notified Watson that until Cox was found, or the Sheriff showed up, it might be best to hand over his weapons. An argument sprung up over that, then Watson swung his shotgun up to shoot D. D. House and would have done it only them wet shells misfired. The men opened up on him all in a roar, the bullets spun him all the way around, and some of ’em claim they seen the buckshot roll right out them double barrels as he fell.

Watson’s neighbors that had straggled in from the Lost Man’s River country after the hurricane, them men stayed out of it, they stayed back up there by the store and watched. There wasn’t a one of them raised a hand to stop it. Them fellers from Lost Man’s never raised no sand about their friend Ed Watson till after he was dead, which was kind of late to start a argument.

Some has been trying to point fingers, claiming us Chokoloskee men was laying for Watson, fixing to shoot him down no matter what. Or some has give hints that so-and-so panicked and fired the first shot, and that this man was the only one responsible. I don’t rightly know who fired first, and they don’t neither. I will only say that Mr. Watson was not lynched nor murdered. We took his life in self-defense, and the whole bunch was in on it from start to finish.

Ain’t none of us was proud about what happened. We was shocked to see our neighbor laying there, face down in his mortal blood, with his young wife and little children not fifty yards away in the Smallwood store.

Nobody having much to say, we went on home. Next morning we took the body out to Rabbit Key and buried it. By the time we got back to Chokoloskee, Sheriff Tippins had showed up lookin for Watson and was waiting on us there at Smallwood’s landing. We was took in custody and brought north here to Fort Myers to give testimony.

Transcribed and attested: X William W. House [his mark]

Witness: (signed) E. E. Watson, Dep. Ct. Clerk

Lee County Courthouse, Fort Myers, Florida

October 27, 1910
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The Bill House deposition had arrived in the mail unaccompanied by note or return address (the postmark was Ochopee, Florida) in response to Lucius Watson’s ad in the Fort Myers News-Press and also in the Lake City Advertiser in Columbia County, where his Collins cousins were still living.


Historian seeks reliable information for a biography of the late sugarcane planter E. J. Watson, 1855–1910



What had startled Lucius most about the deposition was his brother Eddie’s signature as the deputy court clerk who had witnessed and transcribed Bill House’s testimony. He had forgotten that. But as a researcher concerned with the substance of the document—he was preparing a biography of his late father—he had found no significant new information beyond what could be inferred between its lines. On the other hand (as he noted in his journal, doing his best to maintain an objective tone), the document was critical as the one firsthand account of E. J. Watson’s death that had come to light:


The Bill House testimony makes clear that the Chokoloskee men killed E. J. Watson despite the testimony of the unidentified “Negro” that the brutal slayings two weeks previously at Chatham Bend had been committed not by Watson but by his foreman, Leslie Cox, a convicted murderer and fugitive from justice who had turned up a few months earlier at the Watson Place.

According to this deposition, his neighbors shot E. J. Watson down in self-defense. Though this claim has been made for more than a half century by the participants, others in the community assert to the present day that at least some of those involved had planned the killing, justifying the lynching with the claim that otherwise Watson might evade justice, “as he had so often in the past.” Combinations of these theories have also been suggested—for example, that the crowd was at the breaking point of fear and exhaustion in the wake of the murders at Chatham Bend, then the Great Hurricane, and that even if Watson had not meant to harm them, he had made a desperate bluff with shotgun or revolver which was met by the nervous crowd with a barrage.

The document leaves open another urgent question—did one man execute him with the first shot, and the others fire reflexively in the confusion? Though House denies this, the evident need to deny it—and a certain defensive tone—suggests some missing circumstance behind the rumor. If there is truth in it, then who was this man who fired first? Whom was Bill House trying to protect?

The most critical question is whether or not Cox killed those people under the influence or direction of Mr. Watson, as “the Negro” first stated but subsequently denied. Another much debated question is whether or not Watson executed Cox (as he would claim) when he returned to Chatham Bend after the hurricane. If so, did he act in a spirit of justice or in retribution? Or did he do it—as some continue to maintain—to eliminate the only man who might testify against him, knowing that if he came to trial, the black man would be discounted as a witness?

In the climate of fear in the community, almost no one believed that Leslie Cox had been killed by E. J. Watson. For many years afterward, a dread persisted that Cox was still alive back in the rivers, ready to strike again. But if Watson did not kill Cox, then what became of him? With the passage of years it seems less and less likely that we shall learn the fate of that cold-blooded killer who appeared so suddenly and wreaked such havoc, then vanished into the backcountry of America. Somewhere in the hinterland, a man known in other days as Leslie Cox may still squint in the sun, and spit, and revile his fate.
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Caxambas

In his old cabin lighter up Caxambas Creek, Lucius Watson sat straight up in the shard of moonlight, ransacking torn dreams for the hard noise that had awakened him—that rattling bang of an old car or truck striking a pothole in the sandy track through the slash pine wood north of the salt creek. No one else lived out here on the salt marsh, nor was there a mailbox on the county road, a half mile away, which might betray the existence of his habitation.

A dry mouth and stiff brain punished him for last night’s whiskey. He licked his lips and squinched his nose to bring life back to his numb skin, then rose and peered out of the window, certain that some vehicle had come in from the paved road and eased to a stop inside the wood edge where the track emerged onto the marsh—the point from where the black hulk of the lighter, hard aground in the shining mud of the ebbed tide, could first be seen by whoever had come down along the creek on midnight business. And still he heard nothing, only small cries of the earth, forming on the surface of the great night silence. Tree frogs shrilled from the freshwater slough on the far side of the road, in counterpoint to the relentless nightsong—chuck-will’s-widow! chuck-will’s-widow! chuck-will’s-widow!—which came from the whiskery wide gape of a mothlike bird hidden in lichens on some dead limb at the swamp edge, still and cryptic as a dead thing decomposing.

The Gulf moon carved the pale track and black trees. Having come in stealth, the intruder would make the last part of his approach on foot, and—Lucius’s heart leapt—there! A blur against the wall of the moonlit wood detached itself from the tree shadows and moved out onto the track.

An Indian, he thought at once, though how he knew this he could not have said. The figure paused a moment, looking and listening. Then he came on again, following the sand track’s mane of grass, at pains to leave no sign. Caught by the moon, the object that he carried on one arm was glinting.

Lucius moved quickly to drag pants and shirt onto his bony frame. He lifted the shotgun from its rack and cracked the cabin door, cursing himself yet again for isolating himself way out here without a telephone—or plumbing or electricity, for that matter. Yet the simplicity of this houseboat life contented him. It was simplicity he needed, as another might need salt. A cracked cistern and a leaning outhouse which had served a long-gone fish shack at the bog edge, a Primus stove and a storm lantern with asbestos filament—these took care of his domestic needs. Perhaps once in a fortnight, he retrieved his negligible mail at Goodland Post Office and bought his stores, and had a meal and a few whiskeys at the roadhouse.

Above the mangrove on the creek edge rose high wind dunes—highest point on Marco Island, where in the old centuries the Calusa Indians had taken refuge from seasonal hurricanes. Eventually the Spanish had come, and the fishing settlement, and the clam-canning factory. Now developers of creekside land had burned the old factory and the last of the old fish shacks and cleared the sabal and the gumbo-limbo to make way for hard artificial lawns for northern buyers.

Near the sheds, the Indian’s silhouette turned in a slow half circle, sifting the night sounds like an owl before passing behind the leaning outhouse and Lucius’s old auto and some rusted oil drums and the hulk of his old boat and pausing again at the foot of the spindly low dock over the salt grass. He was big and short-legged and round-shouldered, with a small flat butt. In the cold shine of the moon, he glided out over the bog, slat by split slat, and the dock creaked and swayed a little as he came.

Breaking the gun, Lucius Watson dropped two buckshot shells into the chambers and snapped it to. At the click of steel, the Indian stopped short, his free hand rising in slow supplication. He stared at the black crack of the opened door. Very slow, he bent his knees and set some sort of canister down on the dock with a certain ceremony, as if the thing were dangerous or sacred. Slowly he straightened, hands spread-fingered, arms out to the side. His big swart pocked face was expressionless. He tried a smile. “Rural free delivery,” he said.

Widening the door crack with the shotgun barrels, Lucius stepped outside. Under the moon, the glinting canister appeared to pulse. “Get that damned thing back over to the road,” he told the Indian.

“It ain’t a bomb or nothin,” the man murmured. The Indian’s raven hair was dressed in red wind band and long braid, and he wore a candy-striped Seminole blouse and black leather vest, blue jeans and sneakers, with a beaded belt tight on a junk-food belly. He raised his eyebrows, awaiting some change of heart, but when the white man only motioned with the gun, he shrugged and bent and retrieved his offering in one easy motion and returned over the centipedal walkway to the land.

On his hunkers on the road, arms loose across his knees, the Indian awaited him, watching the gun. Lucius pointed the barrels down along his leg. Back in the night shadow of the trees, he could just make out the hulk of an ancient pickup.

Asked if he had come alone, the Indian nodded. Asked who he was, he identified himself as a spiritual leader of the traditional Mikasuki out on the Trail.

Lucius said, “You came halfway across Florida in that old junker to deliver this—”

“Burial urn. The old man sent it.” With a generous wave, the Indian invited him to admire the urn. “He seen your ad in the paper about Bloody Watson.”

“Mr. E. J. Watson? Planter Watson? That what you meant to say?”

The big Indian sighed. “Our old-time Indin people down around Shark River, they always thought a lot of Mr. Watson, cause he give ’em coffee, somethin warm to eat, whenever they come up along the rivers. Had good moonshine, too. Folks say he killed some white people and black ones but he never killed no red ones, not so’s you’d notice.”

Lucius Watson had to laugh. This hurt his head. “What old man?” he scowled.

“Call him Chicken-Wing.”

“Chicken-Wing. So Chicken-Wing said, ‘See that Mr. Lucius Watson gets this burial urn on the stroke of midnight.’ Am I right so far?”

The Indian nodded. “Stroke of midnight,” he assented slyly. “Them were his very words.”

“Christ.” Lucius tried to focus on the urn, which was a cheap one, ornamented with crude brassy angels. “And you don’t know his real name.”

The Indian shrugged. “Used the name Collins when I first come acrost him, some years back. Course that don’t mean nothin. Them people out where he is livin at don’t hold so much with rightful names. Call him Chicken on account of he’s so scrawny—”

Lucius hoisted the gun, and the sudden motion hurt his temples, making him curse. “Come on, dammit! You come sneaking in here after dark—!”

“Just brung that urn, is all. The way I told you.” His black eyes remained fastened on the gun. “Guess I’ll be gettin along,” he said, easing to his feet.

Lucius broke the gun and ejected the shells and stuffed them into his pocket, feeling ridiculous. “You better come on back over to the boat, have some coffee before heading back. Who’s that in the urn? Let’s start from the beginning. If this old Collins wants to see me, why didn’t he come here himself?”

“He don’t feel so good.” The Indian eased his nerves with a low belch. “Other day, one them frog hunters lives back out there come by my camp and let me know Old Man Chicken wanted to see me. Told me Chicken been rottin in his bedroll goin on three days, hardly a twitch, so them men figured he was close to finished. Soon as I got there, Chicken says, ‘For fifty years I been standin in the way of my own death.’ I weren’t so sure what he meant by that, but it sounded like he had about enough.

“Next thing, he told me where you was livin at. Said, Take this here urn to that man Lucius Watson, he’s my rightful hair. Tell him he better come see me, cause I got me a whole ar-chive here on his old man—whole carton of documents and such. And if that don’t do it, you just tell him that them bones in that urn used to be his brother.”

“That’s Rob in there?” Lucius laid the shotgun on the grass and sank to his knees in the white sand beside the urn. He lifted and turned it carefully in both hands in a tumult of emotions. Rob Watson! To clear his head, he took deep breaths of the night air, filling his lungs with the heavy bog smell of low tide. He set the urn down again and stared at it.

Using a bird bone taken from his shirt, the Indian drew a sort of spiral in the sand. “He reckons you owe him a visit. He’s the one sent you them old papers where some man tells how them Chokoloskee fellers killed your daddy.”

“My God.” Lucius sighed. “Tell him I’m coming.” Whoever he was, this old Collins knew what had become of Robert Watson, having somehow come by his remains before Rob’s own siblings even knew that he was dead.

Pressing huge smooth hands to his knees, Billie Jimmie rose as slow as smoke, to such a height that Lucius Watson, a tall man himself, had to step backwards. “Gator Hook,” the Indian said. He set off down the white moon road without a wave. At the wood edge, he half-turned to look back, then disappeared into the dark wall of the forest, leaving Lucius alone with the strange urn, under the moon.

Gator Hook

The day after the Indian appeared out of the forest, Lucius Watson drove eastward on the Tamiami Trail through the Big Cypress, which opened out into wet saw grass savanna. A century ago, in the Seminole Wars, the Indians still crossed their Grassy Waters, Pa-hay-okee, to the high hardwood hammocks where palm-thatch villages and gardens lay concealed from the white soldiers. Since then, the bright waters had been girded tight by the concrete of progress, and a wilderness people, like the native bear and panther, could scarcely be imagined anymore. Of the half-hidden dangers which in the nineteenth century had sapped the spirit of the U.S. Army and led at last to its defeat, what remained were the tall scythes of toothed saw grass and the poison tree called manchineel, the treacherous muck pools and jagged solution holes in the skeletal limestone, the insect swarms which could drive lost greenhorns to insanity, the biting insects and thick water moccasins, opening their cotton mouths like deadly blossoms, and the coral snakes and diamondbacks on the high ground.

Beyond the tiny hamlet at Ochopee, Lucius crossed the small bridge over the shady headwaters of Turner River, which flowed south through shining grasslands and the brackish mangrove coast to the backwaters of Chokoloskee Bay. In the fiery sunshine which arose from the Atlantic horizon, the stately pace of his antiquated auto, putt-putting and rumbling like an old boat, permitted a calm appreciation of the morning. Strings of white ibis crossed pink sky, and egrets hunched like still white growths on the green walls of subtropical forest that had taken hold on the higher ground along the Trail. Over the savanna flew a swallow-tailed kite which, in recent days, had descended from the towering Gulf skies, at the end of its northward migration from the Amazon.

Delighted, Lucius stopped the car and climbed onto its dented roof to follow the bird’s hawking course over the Glades. Before him, the bright expanse spread away forever, seeping south and east over the infinitesimal incline of the ancient seafloor which formed the flat peninsula of southern Florida. In the distance, like a green armada sailing north against the sky, rose isolated hardwood hammocks, tear-shaped islands in the slow sparkling sheet of grassy river. The hammocks were rounded at the northern end and pointed at the south from long ages of parting the broad water that the Indians knew as River Long or Hatchee Chok-ti, transcribed by the early white men as “Shark River”—“the Undiscovered Country,” Lucius’s father had called it, evoking not only the remoteness of that labyrinthal wilderness but its mystery. “From whose bourn no man returns,” Papa intoned. In those days, there was no sign of man, only fine cracks in the floating vegetation made by narrow cypress dugouts, which left scarcely more trace than the passage of great birds in the Glades skies.

Placing one hand on the hot metal, Lucius made the jump down to the road. Though the road jarred him, he was grateful he could still do this without undue creaking. He straightened and stretched and gazed at the silent savanna all around. How terrible and beautiful it was! At one time, Mikasuki water trails had traversed the Glades from the east coast to the west, and permitted a passage of one hundred miles from great Lake Okeechobee south to Florida Bay and the Gulf of Mexico. In recent years, with the advent of the Park, the Indians had been banished from Hatchee Chok-ti, and the last of the wild Mikasuki—Billie Jimmie’s people, who refused to join the acculturated Indians on the reservations—lived in small camps along the Trail canal, guarding their old ways as best they could behind vine-shrouded stockades which hid all but the roofs of the thatched chekes.

At Monroe Station, the old aid and rescue post for early motorists, Lucius turned south on the narrow spur which joined the Trail to the old Chevelier Road. Known these days as the Loop Road, the track had been reduced by decades of disuse to a narrow passage pocked and broken by white limestone potholes and marl pools. In places it was all but lost in the coarse crowding undergrowth of the subtropics, and brush and thorn raked and screeched at the car’s doors as it lurched along. Farther on, the road lay submerged beneath risen water of the spring rains, and frogs and crayfish and quicksilver sprinklings of sun-tipped minnows moved freely back and forth between the warm gold of the marshes to the south and the soft silvers of the pond cypress to the northward.

But now the sky had clouded over, casting a pall of gloom over the swamp, and his sunrise mood of early morning evaporated with the dew, giving way to restlessness, disquiet. All his life, Lucius’s moods had been prey to shifts of light, and now a dread and melancholy dragged at his spirits, as heavy as the graybeard lichen which shrouded the black corridors between the trees. In forcing his way into this road, he seemed to push at a mighty spring which, at the first faltering of his resolve, would hurl him outwards.
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Gator Hook was a shack community on a large piney-woods hammock south of the Trail. The hammock lay on the old road named for the Chevelier Corporation, which was named in turn for an irascible old Frenchman—an ornithologist and plume hunter—who had once attempted a citizen’s arrest of Lucius’s father. In the intoxicated days of the Florida Boom, back in the twenties, the Chevelier people had pioneered a track due west from the Dade County line through the cypress swamps and coarse savanna drained by the upper creeks of Lost Man’s River. Its destination was Chevelier Bay in the Ten Thousand Islands, a wilderness region advertised as “the Gulf Coast Miami.” The developers were confident the authorities would approve their road as the middle section of the cross-Florida highway, but at Forty-Mile Bend, the engineers had turned “the Tamiami Trail” toward the northwest, into another county. The Chevelier Road was still ten miles short of its destination when the Hurricane of 1926, followed three years later by the Wall Street Crash, put an end to the last development schemes ever to be attempted in the Ten Thousand Islands. By the time the Trail was finished, in 1928, the Chevelier Road had been all but abandoned.

In the Depression, the sagging sheds and dwellings of the Trail construction crews at Gator Hook became infested by fugitives and gator hunters, hobos, drunkards, and retired whores, in a raffish community with a reputation for being drunk on its own moonshine by midmorning. This lawless place, eight miles due west across the cypress from the Forty-Mile Bend on the Trail, was cut off from the rest of Monroe County by hundreds of square miles of southern Everglades, which, together with the Ten Thousand Islands, formed the largest roadless area in the United States. In the forties, the old road was decreed a northern boundary of the new Everglades Park, but Gator Hook remained beyond administration, to judge from the fact that the Monroe County Sheriff had never once made the long journey around the eastern region of the Park to this isolated and unregenerate outpost of his jurisdiction.

For a number of years there had been rumors of an old drifter out at the Hook who talked incessantly of E. J. Watson, and it had occurred to Watson’s son that this drifter might be the killer Leslie Cox, yet this seemed so unlikely—was that his honest reason?—that he had never bothered to come out here to find out. Most local people still believed that Cox had escaped (perhaps with Watson’s help) and made his way to the wild Mikasuki still living down around Shark River. Since the Seminole Wars, those undomesticated Indians had sheltered outlaws and other fugitives from white men just as, in the old century, they had sheltered runaway slaves. Under a half-breed identity (and Lucius could remember the man’s Indian black hair and heavy skin), Cox had laid low for years back in the hammocks. Avoiding west coast settlements where he might be spotted, so it was said, he would sometimes accompany Indian trading parties to the east coast at the Miami River, where he traded otter pelts and gator hides for coffee and flour, moonshine, axes and steel traps, rifles, ammunition. With the advent of the cross-Florida highway Cox had drifted to the shack community at Gator Hook, hiding his identity from the inhabitants.

Among old-timers in the bars and on the docks along the coast, the legends of Cox and Watson never died. Lucius could not take all these stories seriously, but because Gator Hook with its anonymous inhabitants was so remote and little-visited, this particular rumor had troubled him long before the visit from Billie Jimmie. And now there was a real old man who claimed to have information about Watson. Was it possible that Leslie Cox had changed his name to Collins?
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The sun, ascending, drew soft mist out of the cypress. From the sharp corner where the spur met the dead end, he headed east again, and in time the land rose slightly and the bright water withdrew beneath a ridge of pine. Blurred trails wandered aimlessly into the thornbush and palmetto, and here and there, half-hidden, the rusty red of a tin roof showed through the greens. In the roadside ditch bald tires languished among bedsprings, beer cans, rain-rotted packaging, unnatural objects of bad plastic colors, strewn through the catclaw and liana at the wood edge.

At a makeshift car dump in a corner of the road, four old men were playing cards on a sawhorse table. The stiff figures turned toward him as he passed, but no hand rose to return the stranger’s wave. None of the four reminded him of Cox, though it was unlikely that he would have recognized the man, not having laid eyes on him since mid-September of 1910, on the same day he last saw his father. He had only a dim memory of that husky, sullen, and unshaven figure, hands in pockets, slouching apart from the small knot of people who were waving good-bye to Lucius from the riverbank at Chatham Bend. Yet seen up close, even an aging Cox would not have lost those small neat ears set tight to his head, as in minks and otters, nor the dim crescent of the mule hoof that had scarred one cheekbone, nor the dull, thudding voice, abrupt and heavy as the grunt of a bull gator.

The Gator Hook Bar was a swaybacked cabin, greenish black, perched on posts as a precaution against high water, and patched with tin and tarpaper against the rains. As the only roadhouse in this remote region, it served the rudimentary social needs of the male inhabitants and their raggy squalling females—lone backwoods crazies of both sexes, he had heard, apt to poke a weapon through a rusty screen and open fire on any unfamiliar auto making its slow way through the potholes, blowing out headlights as it neared or taillights as it fled and sometimes both. According to the legend of the place, the one victim unwise enough to stop and make an inquiry about this custom had been shot through the heart. (“Them boys sure appreciate their privacy,” someone had said.)

The roadhouse was entered and departed through a loose screen door at the top of a steep narrow wooden stair, down which its customers were free to tumble at any hour of the day or night. Beside the stair was a pink limousine with mud flaps and bent chrome which had come to rest among three rusty refrigerators, a collection of oil drums, triangular sections of charred plywood, a renegade toilet, and a fire-blackened stove of that marbled blue so ubiquitous on old American frontiers. The limousine’s rear axle was hoisted on a jack—high as a dog’s leg on a hydrant, Lucius thought, noticing the dog lying beneath it—and the wheel had been missing for some years, to judge from the weeds grown up around the hub.

Through the torn screens came wild hoots, hee-haws, and tremendous oaths rolled into one blaring din by the volume of the country music from the jukebox. As Lucius Watson emerged from his old car, he was greeted by “Orange Blossom Special,” which burst forth in fine cacophony and wandered out over the swamp north of the road.

On this morning of late spring, dilapidated pickups and scabbed autos had emerged from the swamp woods well before noon, and an airboat—a sled-shaped tin skiff with a seat raised above the caged airplane engine and propeller in the stern—was nudging the bank of the open marsh across the way. Parked askew was a new black pickup truck on high swamp tires. Passing the cab, Lucius jumped backwards, startled by the thump of a heavy dog, which had not barked, simply hurled itself against the window. The silent dog—a brindle pit bull male—seemed to churn and froth in its need to get at him, stiff nails scratching on the steamy glass.

“Now don’t go pesterin ol’ Buck!” A scraggy man in red tractor cap and dirty turquoise shirt whacked the screen door wide and reeled onto the stoop. When Lucius said he was looking for a Mr. Collins, the drunk waved him off. “Ain’t never heard of him!” The man had long hard-muscled arms, tattoos, machete sideburns, and a small beer belly. Half-blinded by the sun, he cocked his head, trying to focus. “Ain’t you a damn Watson?”

“Billie Jimmie around?”

“No Injuns allowed. You’re Colonel Watson, ain’t you? You sure come to the wrong place.” The man jerked his thumb back over his shoulder. In a harsh whisper, he said, “Don’t you go no further, Mr. Watson, lest you want some trouble.” He nodded his head over and over. “Don’t remember me?” He stuck his hand out, grinning. “Name is Mud,” he said, just as this name was shouted by a rough voice from inside. Turning, he lost his balance, almost falling. He clutched the rail and sagged down onto the steps, denouncing someone in a pule of oaths and spittle.

Mud’s red cap had fallen off, and Lucius picked it from the steps as he ascended. By now he had recognized Mud Braman from Marco Island, gone drink-blotched, and near-bald. Seeing his pallid scalp at eye level, the livid eruptions and scratched chigger bites, the weak hair and ingrained grime—seeing the soiled and scabbed human integument that could barely contain the furious delusions trapped within—Lucius perched the red cap gently on his head. “I knew your dad,” he murmured, stepping around the rank cinnamon smell of him and continuing up the stair.

Inside, a man was loudly narrating a story. At the appearance of a silhouette in the torn screen, a silence fell like the sudden hush of peepers in the marsh, stilled by the shadow of a heron, or by a water snake, head raised, winding through the tips of flooded grasses. When the stranger entered, two scraggy men on the point of leaving sank back into their places, and the dancing women in their pastel slacks and helmet hairdos, breasts on the roll in baggy T-shirts, squawked and catcalled.

Lucius was stopped inside the door by a husky barefoot man, sun-creased, with old dirt in the creases. From hard green coveralls—his only garment—rose a rank odor of fried foods and sweat, spilled beer and cigarettes, crankcase oil and something else, something rancid, a smear of old mayonnaise, perhaps, or gator blood, or semen. Expressionless in big dark glasses, this figure crowded him without a word, as if intent on bumping chests and backing the stranger out through the screen door. Then that same rough voice which had yelled at Mud now bellowed “Dummy!” and the man stopped and removed his glasses, and dull eyes gazed past Lucius with indifference as he turned away. His dark sun-baked back and neck and shoulders were matted with black hair.

The man who had yelled was Crockett Daniels, who had recognized Lucius Watson, too, and nodded sardonically at Lucius’s grimace. Daniels crossed the room to confer with a big one-armed man who leaned on the far wall, then went to the makeshift plywood bar, where he poured two glasses of clear white spirits from a jug. Brusquely he offered one to Lucius, who accepted it with a bare nod. The moonshine was colorless, so purely raw that it numbed Lucius’s mouth and sinuses and made his eyes water. The two stood grimly side by side, elbows hitched back on the plywood, faced out across the room, and they sipped moonshine for a while before they spoke.

“Speck” Daniels was a strong short man with a hide as dark and hard-grained as mahogany, and jutting black brows and a hawk beak, and dark grizzle in a fringe around a wry and heavy mouth. Straight raven hair, gone silver at the temples, fell in a heavy lock across his brow, and his green eyes were bright and restless, scanning the room before returning to the big black-bearded man in combat boots and camouflage pants and a black T-shirt with a wrinkled red stump in the right sleeve.

Fixing Lucius with a baleful glare, the one-armed man resumed a story interrupted by Lucius’s arrival. “One time down in Harney River country”—and he pointed his good arm toward the south, toward the Park—“I shot me this gator at night, nailed that red eye, and damn if that sucker don’t sink straight down into black water, could been nine foot deep! I don’t generally miss, but I got this kind of a creepy feelin, and didn’t rightly want to go in after him. That big ol’ bull might had plenty of fight left, he might been waitin on me! Made sense to leave him where he lay. At night, it ain’t the same as what it is in the broad open daylight. When a man gets to feelin uneasy, in the night especially, well, he best mind that feelin, or he got bad trouble.”

Saying that, the big man slapped angrily at the stump of his lost arm. Chest heaving, he stared around the room, ready to challenge anybody about anything. The hard high brush of coarse black hair that jutted from his head like a worn broom gave him a look of grievance and surprise. On his good arm was a discolored tattoo—an American flag set about with fasces and an eagle rampant, talons fastened on a skull and crossbones. The red and white of the stars and stripes were dirtied and the blue purpled, all one ugly bruise.

“That war vet you’re lookin at is Crockett Junior Daniels,” Speck said in a speculative voice, not sounding pleased about it.

“Yessir, folks,” Crockett Junior roared, “that big ol’ sucker might could chomp your leg off! Might be holed up way deep in his cave, and you proddin down in there tryin to find him with your gator hook, nudge him up under the chin, try to ease him slow, slow, slow up to the surface where you got a shot, and him gettin more uproared all the time. First thing you know, he has got past the hook some way, he’s a-comin up the pole, he’s just a-clamberin! And there you are, up to your fool neck in muddy water and no hope at all to make it to the bank—if there is a bank, which mostly there ain’t, out in that country!” He looked around the room. “Them kind of times, all you can do is stand dead still, hope that scaly sonofabitch gets by you in the rush!

“Now, that ain’t a experience you are likely to forget, I’m here to tell you! You go to huntin gators in the backcountry, you gone to earn ever’ red cent you make! And that’s all right, that’s our way of life and always has been, takin the rough nights with the smooth. But since the Park come in, you go out there”—he was pointing south again—“and go to doin what your daddy done, and grandpap, too, and next thing you know, you find yourself flat up against some feller in a green frog outfit that the federal fuckin gov’ment got sneakin around back in our swamps! Know what he wants? Hell, you know what he wants! Wants to steal your hard-earned money! Put your pore ol’ cracker ass in jail!”

The big man pointed a thick finger at Lucius Watson. “Or maybe he ain’t in a green suit! Maybe he just come walkin through that door there, tryin to look like ever’body else!”

Speck said calmly, “Folks here at the Hook ain’t got no use for invaders, notice that?” He turned to Lucius. “Mind tellin us what you’re doin out here, Colonel?” He grinned at Lucius in unabashed dislike. “That’s what your friends call you, ain’t it? Colonel?”

“You my friend now, Speck?” Lucius drank his glass off to the bottom and came up with a gasp and a warm glow in the throat and face. Like bristling dogs, they avoided eye contact, pretending to watch the one-armed man, whose anger was rising.

“Thing of it is,” Crockett Junior bawled, “them damn Park greenhorns and their spies will belly right up to that bar, pertend to be your friend; keep a man from supportin his own family! And you out in that dark ol’ swamp night after night, way back in some godforsook damn slough you can’t even get to in a boat, and half-bled to death by no-see-ums and miskeeters. One night out here is worse than a month in hell! And finally you’re staggerin home across the saw grass, cut to slivers and all cold and wet and more’n half dead, and thankin the Lord that you’re comin out alive, cause you got two thousand dollars’ worth of gator flats humped on your back. And sure enough, one them rangers has you spotted, or maybe he’s layin for you near your truck back at the landin.”

Here the big man paused in tragic wonderment, and when he resumed speaking, he spoke softly. “Speakin fair now, what’s a man to do? If that ranger goes to chasin you, I mean, or tries to stop you? Or tell you you’re under arrest, throw you in jail?”

Speck Daniels watched his son without expression. “They heard this same ol’ shit in here a thousand times,” he said.

“Now I ain’t got nothin personal against that ranger,” Crockett Junior was saying, choked by strong emotions. “Might could be a real likable young feller, just a-tryin to get by, same as what I’m doin. Might got him a sweet lovin wife and a couple real cute li’l fellers back home waitin on him, or maybe just the sweetest baby girl—same as what I got! Ain’t no difference between him and me at all!” He looked around him wide-eyed to make sure these people understood how astonishing it was that he and this park ranger both had wives and children, and how large-hearted his concern for that ranger’s family was. “But if’n that boy tries to take my gators, well, I got my duty to my people, ain’t that right? Got my duty to take care of my little girl back home that’s waitin on me to put bread on the table! Ain’t that only natural?” He looked around the room. “So all I’m sayin—and it would be pathetical, and I am the first one to admit it—all I’m sayin, now, if any such a feller, and I don’t care who, tries to keep me from my hard-earned livin?” Shaking his head, he fixed his gaze on Lucius once again. “Well, I’d sure be sorry, folks,” he growled, as his voice descended to a hoarse hard whisper, and he pointed southward toward some point of destiny in a far slough. “I surely would be sorry. Cause I reckon I would have to leave him out there!”

The hard whisper and the twisted face, the threat, had finally compelled the crowd’s attention, and it turned a slack and opaque gaze upon the stranger.

Speck Daniels snickered. “Tragical, ain’t it? Leave him out there! I reckon that’s about the size of it.”

“That a warning?” Though Lucius spoke casually, his heart quickened with fear.

“Yessir,” Speck said, ambiguous. “Out in this neck of the woods, a stranger got to watch his step. That is a fact.” And still he did not look at Lucius but gazed coldly at the huge maimed man holding the floor. “Junior there, he went clean acrost the Pacific Ocean to fight for freedom and democracy, and he killed plenty of ’em over there just like they told him to, and he give his right arm for his country, too, while he was at it. Uncle Sam give him a purty ribbon, but that boy would of had a whole hell of a lot more use out of that arm.”

He nodded, somber. “Course they’s some of these dumb country boys is proud to give their right arm for their country—least their daddies is proud and Uncle Sam is proud, and the home folks gets to march in a parade. But I reckon I don’t feel that way, and Junior, he don’t neither, not no more. We know it’s our kind that does all the fightin, and our kind that gets tore up and killed, long with the niggers, while the rest of ’em stay home and make the money.” He kept nodding. “That big boy there had to learn them things the hard way, and he’s still hot as hell. If he don’t get a hold on his ragin pretty quick, there is goin to be bad trouble for some poor feller that don’t know enough to get out of his way.”

Speck licked his teeth. “When he’s like this—all this uproarin, I mean—Junior sleeps like he is dead or he don’t sleep at all. Won’t talk to nobody, only them other vets. Might not say a word to his own daddy for two-three days, then busts right out with the answer to some damn question you forgot you asked him. Either way, he is crazy as all hell, and dangerous, and them other shell-shocked morons he keeps with him might be worse. Mud Braman ain’t nothin but a crazy drunk, don’t know what he’s doin from one minute to the next, and that other one with all the personality”—he pointed at Dummy—“his uncles was in that bunch that killed that lawman at Marco back in Prohibition, so whatever the hell is the matter with that feller, he comes by it natural. Might break loose and shoot everyone in sight and you’d never have no idea why he went and done it.”

Speck Daniels sighed. “Some days I think ol’ Junior might be better off if I was to take him out into that swamp back there and shoot him. Before he shoots somebody else, out of his natural-borned suspicion. Maybe some stranger who just wandered in here off that road.”

Daniels contemplated Lucius, sucking at his teeth as if tasting something bad. “You plannin to tell me what you’re huntin for out this way, Colonel? Ain’t me, I hope.”

Lucius shook his head. “You live here now?”

“Nosir, I sure don’t. When I ain’t livin on my boat, I got me a huntin camp back in the Cypress, got a surplus tent and a good Army stove and a genuine plastic commode, also a nice Guatemala girl that come by mail order. But these days,” he whispered—and he cocked his head to see how Lucius would receive this information—“I’m campin in your daddy’s house, down Chatham River.”

Lucius maintained his flat expression, not wishing to show how much he resented the idea of this man living on the Bend. Since his father’s death, the remote house on its wild river had been looted and hard-used across decades by hunters, moonshiners, and smugglers, but now the Watson Place was deep inside the Park. To reveal to a man he knew disliked him that he was flouting federal law by camping in the old Watson Place seemed strangely out of character, unless Speck meant this as some sort of provocation.

“Parks is talkin about burnin down your house.” Speck grinned a little, meanly. “Claim she’s so banged up by hurricanes that she’s a hazard to Parks visitors!” His grin shifted to a snarl. “Stupid lyin bastards! In all the years since Parks took over, they never had one visitor at Chatham Bend! Not even one!”

Lucius Watson nodded. From offshore, no stranger to that empty coast could find the channel in the broken mangrove estuary where Chatham River worked its way through to the Gulf—one reason that Papa had liked that river in the first place—and even the few tourists who could read a chart might ream out their boat bottom on the oyster bars. Because of the huge drainage canals in the Glades headwaters, the rivers ran shallow, with big snags and shifting sandbars, and there were no channel markers because moonshiners such as Crockett Daniels rigged lines to them and dragged them out.

Speck considered him a moment. “Yep, they’re set to burn your daddy’s good old house right to the ground.”

“Why do you care? It’s not your house.”

Speck Daniels cocked an ugly eye. “Don’t the Bend belong to all of us home people?” His voice had risen in a spurt of anger, and Crockett Junior turned their way. “Same as the whole Thousand Islands, the whole Everglades? Why, Godamighty, they’s been Danielses out here for a hundred years! I lived and hunted in this country my whole life! You tellin me them greenhorns got more right to this backcountry than I do?” He spat hard at the floor. “Anyways, what the hell kind of a tourist would beat his way three-four miles back up a mangrove river to take a picture of some raggedy ol’ lonesome place walleyed with busted windows, and the doors all choked by thorn and vines? Not to mention bats and snakes, wasp nests and spiders and raccoon shit—smell like a kennel! That house ain’t had a nail or a lick of paint in years! Screen porch is rickety, might put your foot through, and the jungle is invadin the ground floor. That blow last year hit one hundred fifty at Flamingo. Them winds tore out the last of your daddy’s windows, tattered the roof, just lashed and blasted that strong house till she looked gray and peaked as a corpse!”

Despite his vehemence, Speck Daniels’s green eyes kept moving, as if much of his fury was feigned and the rest exaggerated, and when he spoke again, his voice was calm. “Well, you know somethin? That storm never done her no real harm at all. Tore up the outside, which is all them greenhorns look at. Inside, she’s as solid as she ever was, cause your daddy used bald cypress and Dade County pine. She’ll be standin up there on her mound for another century!” What had saved the place to date, he said, was its location far across the Glades from the Park headquarters at Homestead. Alone and unvisited, way back in a forgotten river, and long hard miles by land or sea from the nearest road, the abandoned house did not justify the cost of its own destruction, and anyway, all the bureaucratic details—the burning permits, the requisition chits for fuel, not to speak of the fire crew, boat crew, and boat—had never been assembled in the same place at the same time.

“Hell, there ain’t nothin to burnin down a house, you know that good as I do!” Daniels banged his glass down on the bar. “Any Injun nor nigger, woman nor child could turn a pine house to hellfire in four minutes flat! Toss a coffee can of boat gas through the winder, flick your cigarette in after it, and go on home! I mean, Christamighty! But they ain’t done that, and you know why? Cause they’d rather blow up a paper storm, waste our tax money in some big-ass federal operation, make some bureaucrat look like he done somethin important!”

“You paying taxes these days?” Lucius inquired. The moonshine was spreading through his body, which glowed with a deadly calm.

“Why hell, yes, Colonel! First man to step up to the window ever’ year!”

They grinned together briefly, without pleasure.
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A couple of months before, Daniels confided, he’d been contacted by a lawyer in Miami who was seeking a court injunction against the burning and was trying to reach the Watson heirs. He wanted someone on the place to make sure the house did not burn “by accident” before the case could get to court, and also to learn if the Park would force the issue by seeking to evict his caretaker. He wanted to gauge the strength of the government’s legal position as well as its resolve.

“Parks ain’t tested it so far, and they know I’m on there.” Speck cocked his head with another sly smile. “Course I was on there anyway, takin care of my own business, so ever’thin worked out purty nice.”

The Miami lawyer had a big reputation, big connections. He was a crony of politicians and a “fixer.” Lucius must know him, Daniels said, because he’d been born on Chatham Bend, Ed Watson’s namesake.

Affecting indifference, Lucius shrugged, but he resented this, as Daniels knew he would. Why would Watson Dyer pay a moonshiner and gator poacher to protect that house before getting in touch with the Watson family? To hell with that, he thought, I’ll go myself. I’m going home. They can’t burn down the Watson house with a Watson standing in the door!

“First time he called, it seemed to me I knew the voice, but some way I couldn’t place it,” Speck was saying. “The man was complainin how he never could catch up with the Watson boys. I told him, Well, the oldest boy ain’t never been heard from since the turn of the century, and the next one, Eddie, don’t want nothin to do with that old place. Course Colonel might be interested, I says, but you’ll have trouble comin up with Colonel, cause he moves real quiet and makes hisself real scarce and always did.” Speck Daniels laughed, but his green eyes weren’t laughing. “Ain’t goin to tell me what you’re lookin for out here?”

The more Lucius thought about going home, the more excited he became, though he tried not to show it. “So what does Dyer want? With Chatham Bend, I mean.”

“Might want a ronday-voo for his pet politicians, wouldn’t surprise me—booze-and-girlie club, y’know. I been thinkin I might join up to be a member.” But there was no mirth in Daniels’s wink, and he got right back to business. “All I know is what I picked up on the phone. But he must be up to somethin big. Went to a lot of trouble to find out that Crockett Senior Daniels knew the Watson Place and might be just the feller he was lookin for.”

Asked what he had been doing on the Bend before he took up caretaking, Daniels lit a cigarette and squinted through the smoke. “That ain’t your business.” He winked to show he was only joking, which he wasn’t. “Maybe I been study in up to get me a good job as a Park Ranger, on account of I done more rangin in their Park than all them stupid greenhorns put together.”

Sipping the white lightning, Lucius said “You make this stuff at Chatham Bend? When you’re not out caretaking, I mean?”

Daniels measured him. “You ain’t obliged to drink it, Colonel. You ain’t obliged to drink with me at all.”

Asked about the airboat and the new black truck, Speck remained silent, but Lucius persisted. “Run this stuff up here at night by airboat? Lost Man’s Slough? Broad River? Gator hides, too?”

“That airboat’s his’n, and the truck.” Daniels jerked his chin toward Crockett Junior. Asked next if he owned the Gator Hook Bar and if this place was an outlet for his product, Speck gave up trying to be genial. “Still askin them stupid questions, ain’t you, Colonel? You ain’t changed much, boy, and I ain’t neither, as you are goin to find out if you keep tryin me. It’s like your daddy said that day, ‘I ain’t huntin for no trouble, boys, but if trouble comes a-huntin me, I will take care of it.’ ”

“He never said anything that stupid in his life!”

Daniels grinned at him. “Is that a fact?” He reached to refill Lucius’s cup, to smooth things over. “Course I weren’t nothin but a boy, but I knew your dad, y’know, to say hello to.”

“Knew him to say good-bye to, might be more like it. One of the last to see Watson alive, one of the first to see him dead—whichever.”

In a gravelly voice, Speck Daniels growled, “I asked you real polite what you was up to, out this way.” He rapped his glass down. “Asked you twice.”

Lucius set his own glass on the bar, pushed it away from him, trying hard to focus. He was sick of talking. “I’m out here looking for a man named Collins.”

“No you ain’t.” Speck shook his head. He looked over the crowd, then announced loudly, “You are a damn liar.” They watched Crockett Junior push himself clear of the wall and move toward them. “I ain’t seen you in maybe twenty years and all of a sudden, you show up out here, way to hell and gone off of your territory. You think I’m some kind of a fuckin idjit?” Still watching his son, Speck persisted in a low flat tone, “Think I don’t know why you’re snoopin around where you don’t belong?”

“Easy now. Hold on a minute—”

“You been snoopin and skulkin all your life, you sonofabitch! Nobody never knowin where you was at, let alone what you was up to. Maybe you don’t know it, boy, but you come pretty close to gettin yourself killed, back in the old days!”

“By you?”

“Could be.”

“You threatening me, Speck?”

The one-armed man moved in behind him, and the man called Dummy had drawn closer, too. The room went silent. The crowd waited beady-eyed for some stray scrap of event, like hungry crows. Lucius said, “The man I’m looking for calls himself Collins. Old Man Chicken, Billie Jimmie calls him.”

“Chicken-Wing?” a woman yelled. “He ain’t but about four damn feet from where your elbow’s at! Under the bar!”
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Despite the heavy humid heat, the man who lay beneath the bar on a soft litter of swept-up cigarette butts was covered right up to his closed eyes in dirty Army blankets poxed with black-edged burns. “He’s comin off a drunk,” Speck Daniels snarled. He toed the body with a hard-creased boot, and the body emitted an ugly hacking cough, then a gasping rattle that might have been some sort of deathbed curse. “When Chicken-Wing washed up here years ago, we made him barkeeper, ain’t that right, Chicken? Paid him off in trade. All he could put away and then some, and he’s still hard at it! Come to drinkin, he don’t never quit! Don’t know the meanin of the word!”

“Crockett Senior Daniels!” the voice said bitterly from beneath the blankets. “Damn redneck know-nothing!”

Speck grinned. “I know my ass from a hole in the ground, which you ain’t known in years!” In good humor now, he winked at Lucius and kicked the body harder. “Come on, Chicken! Say how-do to Colonel, boy, because he’s just leavin!”

Hair like greasy wet tufts of a duck emerged from the olive blankets, followed by a soiled, unshaven head, a sad reek of booze and urine. The old man lifted the singed blanket to his mouth before turning toward Lucius, so that only the eyes showed, peering out through hair and beard like a wild man peering through a bush. Lucius thought he glimpsed something familiar, but he saw at once that this man was not Cox. A scrawny claw crept forth to grasp the tin cup of mixed spirits and tobacco juice which Dummy, at a sign from Speck, had ladled from a slops bucket under the bar. The old man grasped it avidly, knocking it back with one great cough and shudder.

At the sight of Lucius, the eyes came blearily into focus, then misted over before closing tight. The head withdrew. From beneath the blanket came dire curses and more coughing. “Don’t a dying man get no privacy?” he yelled.

Lucius went down on one knee beside the pile of blankets. “Mr. Collins? You wanted to see me?”

“Go on back where you come from, boy!”

“We have to talk,” Lucius said urgently. “You can stay at my place till you’re better.”

With his good arm, Crockett Junior Daniels lifted Lucius off the floor, turned him away. The drunk yelled after him, “Don’t mess with ’em, boy! I’ll see you down the road!”

At the door, Mud Braman tried to block his way. “You’re Mister Colonel, right? Mister Colonel Watson!” At a sign from the one-armed man, Dummy thrust his palm against Mud’s face so that the nose and bulging eyes stuck out between his fingers, then shoved hard with one thrust like a punch, sending Mud back through the screen door. Striking the rail, he spun into his fall, making a half turn in the air before he dropped from view. A scaring bang rose from the bottom of the steps.

Lucius jumped after him down the stairs as Speck Daniels observed them. “Poor ol’ Mud has flew down them steps so many times you’d think he’d get the hang of it, but he just don’t,” Speck said.

Mud Braman, on hands and knees, was red-eyed with pain and disillusionment. “See how they done? I tried and I tried to be in friendship with these peckerheads, done my best to help out where I could! It ain’t no use!” Yet when Lucius tried to help him up, Mud cursed him. Wiping the blood from his gashed brow with the back of a grimy hand, he tottered through the dirt and weeds to the pink limousine and dragged himself into the backseat like a sick cat, pulling the door shut with loud creaks because the hinges were all bent and rusted and the rank growth of weeds kept it from closing. “Anybody thinks that Mud R. Braman is goin to take any more shit off these skunks better think again!” came the voice from within.

Speck Daniels yelled at the pink auto, “You ain’t hurt none, boy! You can thank the Lord you got skunks for friends, cause otherwise you wouldn’t have none at all!” Seeing Lucius headed for his car, Speck raised his voice to a hoarse shout. “Lucius Watson! Lucius Watson ain’t nowhere near the man his daddy was, ain’t that right, Lucius?”

Grinning, Speck stood rocking on his heels on the top step, hands in hip pockets. “Lucius? You don’t aim to say good-bye? And here you ain’t even told me yet how that ol’ list of yours is comin along!” Getting no answer, he yelled louder. “How come Henry Short ain’t on your list? Ain’t never died off yet that I ever heard about. Or don’t a nigger count, the way you look at it?”

Lucius backed his old car around, the tires spitting mud. He idled in neutral in the ruts as he cranked his window down, the better to contemplate the furious man on the top step. Behind Daniels’s head, over the roof peak, a turkey vulture made trackless circles through the sky, the red skin of its bare head glinting like a blood spot on the sun.

Speck licked his lips. “You and me is very different, Lucius, I am proud to say. If I believed a certain man helped to kill my daddy, Lucius, I sure wouldn’t go to drinkin with that feller, Lucius, like you done just now. And I sure wouldn’t need no damn ol’ list to tell me what to do about it, neither. That man would of come up missin a long time ago.”

“Crockett Senior Daniels.” Lucius pronounced the name slowly, as if to lock it in his memory. “I do believe that is the last name on the list.” Wobbling the old clutch into gear, he exulted at the flicker in Speck’s grin, and drove off chortling, yet he knew he had pushed his luck, and his heart was pounding. A man as ruthless and wary as Speck Daniels would hear those last words as a threat, and a threatened man, as Papa used to say, was not a man to turn your back on in the Glades country.

The List

In December of 1908, E. J. Watson had been acquitted in a murder trial in north Florida, a notorious event that had required Gov. Napoleon Broward’s intercession to prevent a lynching. Eddie Watson and their sister’s husband, Walter Langford, had testified for the defense, yet upon their return to Fort Myers, these two refused to discuss the trial with the younger brother, asserting that stern silence in this matter was “a family decision” made with their Collins cousins in Columbia County. The silence deepened two years later when “the head of the family”—Eddie’s snide way of referring to his father—was killed by the Island men on Chokoloskee.

Taken in custody by Sheriff Frank B. Tippins and brought north to Fort Myers, the Islanders had been deputized as “the Watson posse,” although their quarry was already dead and buried. This stratagem, which avoided worsening the scandal with a public trial, was approved by Banker Langford and by Eddie Watson, who soon thereafter left his employ as deputy court clerk in order to take a job in Langford’s bank. Eddie refused to discuss the hearing with his brother or reveal to Lucius the identities of those who had participated in their father’s death, lest Lucius attempt to seek revenge or otherwise “act crazy.”

From the start, Lucius Watson had lashed out at the whole business as hypocritical disloyalty to Papa. For a time, he had an ally in his sister, Carrie Langford, who had also loved their warm and jolly father and would not believe that Papa had been guilty of the alleged crimes. (Carrie was especially tormented because in recent years—since the murder trial in Columbia County—she had turned her father from her door, to protect her husband’s business reputation.) Sharing grief and bewilderment as well as the hope that somehow dear Papa would be vindicated, the two were stoic in their stifled rage at the street whisperings, the stares in church, the seething gossip which attended the reburial of the blood-blackened, half-rotted corpse exhumed from Rabbit Key and reburied almost furtively in Fort Myers Cemetery. Only the Langfords’ prominence and wealth had protected the family from public disgrace. But eventually Carrie, too, would adopt the code of silence, telling Lucius that she could not bear any further talk about dear Papa. Walter and Eddie were right, she had decided. For the sake of her poor children, Carrie wept, she must cut Papa from her life and mind as best she could. When she begged Lucius not to mention him again, he turned and left her house without a word, completing his estrangement from the family.

Clearly, his upright siblings in Fort Myers had no wish to learn “the truth” about their father, perhaps because they lived in dread of what such ancestry might signify if even one of the terrible tales proved to be true. And despite his loyalty, Lucius himself was uncomfortably aware of shrouded memories, half-hidden, half-forgotten—specters of the half-light, dimly seen, which drew near the surface of certain dreams and threatened to burst forth into the waking day. If Papa had deserved his reputation, then what did it mean to be the get of such a man, the biological consequence, the blood inheritor?

“You’re drunk! You’re talking crazy!” Eddie had shouted when Lucius asked these dire questions at a Thanksgiving celebration at the Langfords, scarcely a month after the death. And all reminded him of the clan decision never to speak of their ancestor again.

Lucius cried, “Well, maybe I am crazy! Who knows? If Papa was who you think he was, I might wake up one day and just start killing people! And you might, too! That doesn’t scare you?”
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That winter of 1911, estranged from his family and unable to rest, he had set off in search of his beloved oldest brother, who had not been heard from since he’d fled from Chatham Bend ten years before. Lucius took the train north to Fort White, in Columbia County, in the hope that Rob might have been in touch with Granny Ellen Watson or their Collins cousins.

Granny Ellen, he discovered, had died a few months before her son, and Aunt Minnie Collins had no idea who Lucius might be, far less what he might want of her. Aunt Minnie, who would die within the year, had been sheltered from the scandal (and indeed from her own life) by morphine addiction and premature senescence. Like one rudely awakened, on the point of tears, she would not speak with this interloper in her household, who only added to her confusion and distress.

As for her children, they scarcely remembered the young cousin who had stayed with them briefly sixteen years before. Sympathetic at first, his relatives became uncomfortable and then impatient with his questions, reminding him of the code of silence which the Collins clan had scrupulously observed. Shamed in their rural community by their uncle Edgar, they were not grieved by his death, and when Lucius finally understood this, he burst out, “He was acquitted! He was found innocent!”

The Collins brothers did their best to mend things. They had loved their uncle, they acknowledged, but they would never agree that he was innocent. When Lucius departed, Cousin Willie called from the train platform, “Y’all come back and see us, Cousin Lucius!” This was meant kindly, yet they were content with his departure and could not hide it.

While in Fort White, Lucius had learned the whereabouts of his father’s widow, who had fled Chokoloskee and gone to live near her sister Lola in northwest Florida. Edna Watson was close to Lucius’s age, they had been dear friends, and he felt sure he would be cheered by a good visit with his little half sisters Ruth Ellen and Amy and their roly-poly brother, christened Addison after Granny Ellen’s family. But Ruth Ellen was still terrified by the din and violence of the shooting, which Little Ad had witnessed, and even Amy, only five months old on that dark October day, struck Lucius as subdued and melancholy, rather timid.

His young stepmother was kind to him, and nervous. He had dragged unwelcome memories to her door. Though Edna was too shy to say so, her sister, pressing him to leave, warned him gently that “Mr. Watson is a closed chapter in that poor girl’s life.” At the railroad station, Lola informed him that Edna would soon marry her childhood sweetheart from Fort White, who had offered to give his name to her three young ones.
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In Fort Myers, Lucius worked awhile as a fishing and hunting guide for Walter Langford’s business associates. After his years at Chatham River, he was a skilled boatman and fisherman and a dead shot. He was also a loner, preferring books to loud camaraderie, and indeed so quiet as he went about his work that his brother-in-law received indirect complaints, not about Lucius’s guiding, which was expert, but about his “unfriendly” attitude, his silence. Try as he would to be “one of the boys,” he was hobbled by introspection, guilt, and melancholy. At heart he was a merry person who saw something amusing wherever he turned, but in his darker times, Lucius’s humor turned cryptic and laconic. His one close friend—and eventually his lover—was a young girl named Lucy Dyer whose parents had worked at Chatham Bend in the first years of the century and who retained fond childhood memories of “Mr. Watson.”

In the dull white summer of 1912, Lucius sought refuge in the Merchant Marine, taking along a duffel full of books. Upon his return, he was prevailed upon by Carrie to attend the University of Florida at Gainesville. There he passed three years in quest of a degree in American history, proposing for his thesis a life of the Everglades pioneer and sugarcane planter Edgar Watson—an objective biography which (he proposed) might replace the legend with the facts, and testify to E. J. Watson’s intelligence and generous nature as well as his remarkable accomplishments. But his outline was rejected as too speculative—“too subjective” was what was meant, since the candidate was Watson’s son. However, the faculty was much impressed by his deep knowledge of remote southwestern Florida, even to its Indian people and its wildlife, and urged him to prepare instead an account of pioneer settlement on the Everglades frontier.

At first, he had resented his professors for having dismissed his parent as a subject unfit for biography. (At the same time, Lucius understood that, in light of what had been written about Papa in the magazines and newspapers, unanswered by any protest from the Watson family, they could scarcely have concluded anything else.) Dispirited, he turned instead to the proposed history of southwest Florida, which progressed rapidly. It was nearing completion when he lost heart and abandoned it, and a few weeks later, he dropped out of graduate school without a word. For the first though not the last time in his life, Lucius Watson embarked on a prolonged alcoholic odyssey which only ended when he awoke in jail.

Returning eventually to Fort Myers, he went straight to the Langford house and stood before the family, ready to endure their recriminations. Poor Carrie gasped at his appearance. “Oh, it’s such a waste!” she mourned. Inevitably Eddie reminded him of his profound debt to the generous man who had paid for his tuition—here Eddie bent a meaningful look upon his own employer, Walter Langford, who frowned, judicious, from his armchair, rapping out his pipe. Whether Walter frowned over the waste of Lucius’s efforts or the waste of money—or perhaps in simple deference to the onset of his evening haze, brought on by whiskey—Lucius felt ashamed that he had accepted Langford’s money in the first place.

It was Lucius’s “morbid fear of life,” Eddie declared, which had caused him to flee the university before completing his thesis and receiving his degree, and which also kept him from settling down and getting married. (“That poor, dear little Lucy Dyer!” Carrie had grieved, when Eddie condemned his brother’s unmarried status.) A churchman and sober citizen who shared most and possibly all of Walter’s opinions, Eddie was already married, with two daughters. Sprawled in an armchair, one leg over the arm, he sighed in his most world-weary way, shaking his head over his brother’s ingratitude and chronic folly.

Next day, without notifying Lucy, Lucius enlisted in the U.S. Navy. He went overseas with a vague ambition to die for his country but came back having failed in this as in all else. Still brooding about his murdered father, still fantasizing about Southern honor (and even honorable revenge upon the ringleader—or perhaps the first man to fire—since it seemed impractical to wipe out the whole posse), he had convinced himself that to salvage his own life, he must return to the Ten Thousand Islands, not only to confront the executioners but to learn just why Edgar Watson had met that grotesque end on October 24th of 1910, at Chokoloskee.
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Before departing for the Islands, Lucius spent one broken evening at the Langford house—their new brick house on First Street, at the foot of the Edison Bridge over the river. On this occasion, Eddie declared that Lucius’s “unhealthy obsession” with his father’s death was merely a way of lending false significance to his own immature and feckless life. And when Lucius was silent, he went on to warn him that returning to the Islands could only end in violence, since the local men, in their guilt and anger, would inevitably feel threatened by E. J. Watson’s son. This dire prediction evoked an outburst of dismay from Carrie and unusually deep frowns from her husband, who stepped at once into the pantry to fortify himself with a noble whiskey, in which Lucius joined him. And whiskey fired the final argument over Lucius’s declared intention to find out precisely what had happened on that fatal day nine years before—find out just who had shot at Papa, and what evidence there was, if any, that E. J. Watson had ever killed a single soul.

“Oh Lord! You are crazy!” Eddie hollered.

“Name one person,” Lucius shouted back on his way toward the door, “who ever claimed that he saw Papa shoot at anybody!”

“Precious Lucius” thought himself superior, Eddie was yelling, for refusing to honor the family agreement never to discuss their father. And Carrie chimed in—“You did promise, you know!”

“You people promised! I never promised a damned thing!”

Carrie was reprimanding Eddie as the door closed—“He is not feckless! He is simply romantic and impractical!”—but she did not disagree with Eddie, not entirely. When Lucius had gone overseas without advising Lucy Dyer that he was going, the desperate girl had confessed her love for him to Carrie, and recently Carrie had learned that he had not called on Lucy since his return. The next day, too ashamed to make amends—he had some idea that he must first prove himself worthy—he departed for the Ten Thousand Islands.

[image: ]

At Chatham Bend he found a boat tied at the dock, and the family of Willie Brown camped in the house. Though old friends of his father, the Browns seemed uneasy, unable to imagine why a Watson son would ever come back to the Islands. Willie Brown assured him that they would move out whenever Lucius was ready, by which he meant “ready to live alone.” Fearing that loneliness, he told them they were welcome to stay on in the main house while he patched up the old Dyer cabin down the bank. A few days later, when he returned from Everglade with a boatload of supplies, the Browns were gone.

Lucius wandered the overgrown plantation in the river twilight. In the old fields, cane shoots struggled toward the light through the thorn and vine. Fetching his whiskey from the boat, he sat in the empty house all that long evening, until finally he was so drunk and despairing that he crawled outside and fell off the porch steps, howling in solitude. Next day he headed south to Lost Man’s River, where Lee Harden and his Sadie, who were close to his own age, had always been his friends and made him welcome. On impulse, he offered them the place on Chatham Bend. They were disturbed by his haggard appearance and did not believe that he was serious, and Lee Harden had lived on the Bend as a small child and had no wish to return there, having already filed a claim on Lost Man’s Beach. He thanked Lucius politely, reminding him that the Hardens were fishermen. There was no sense in letting a forty-acre plantation go to waste. Anyway, they informed him gently, the Chevelier Development Corporation had somehow acquired rights to Chatham Bend.

Having no heart or temperament for a legal battle, Lucius abandoned the Bend and built a cabin near the Hardens at South Lost Man’s, where he resumed his former life as a commercial fisherman. Though he did his best to be friendly with everyone, he refused to ignore his father’s death. He wished to identify every man who had been present in that October dusk on Smallwood’s landing, and to look him so squarely in the eye that he could not doubt that Watson’s son knew all about his participation. In this way, he hoped he might be free of that bitterness and atavistic shame which had crippled his spirit for so many years.

The first man Lucius sought out for advice was Henry Thompson, who had worked for E. J. Watson back in the nineties and later became captain of his schooner. Henry had always been his father’s friend and had denounced the killing. Yet it seemed that Henry was avoiding him, perhaps because he himself avoided Chokoloskee, where the Thompsons lived. When they finally met one day on the dock at Everglade, and he asked Thompson who had been involved, it appeared that Henry had forgotten. Though he put both sets of knuckles to his temples and racked his brain extra hard, he could not recall a single name from that crowd of men. When Lucius expressed astonishment, Thompson turned cranky, as if held responsible unjustly. He all but suggested that Watson’s son had no business returning to the Islands in the first place. “All that Watson business” was over and done with, he told Lucius, and the less said about any of it the better. He did not add “if you know what’s good for you,” not in so many words, but very clearly that was what he meant. Better let sleeping dogs lie, Henry advised him as they parted, and anyway—this was shouted back over his shoulder—Mr. E. J. Watson still owed Thompsons money! After that day the Thompson family, which had always been so friendly, turned cold and avoided him, like the Willie Browns.

But Lucius persisted in his quiet inquiry, speaking with anyone willing to discuss his father’s life and death. The men of Everglade and Chokoloskee had liked “Ed Watson’s boy” back in the old days, and when he had first returned, and appeared friendly, some of the men put their uneasiness aside and answered questions about Mr. Watson’s years on Chatham Bend, his crops and economics, boats and marksmanship, his moonshine and plume-hunting days, even his wild rioting in Tampa and Key West—anything and everything but the dark events which finished in that October dusk at Smallwood’s landing.

They called him Colonel. The nickname had not been affectionate, not in those early days, but only certified his separation from the Island people due to his courtly educated tones and “city manners.” The more amiable he became, the less they trusted him, in their stubborn suspicion that his friendliness was intended to disarm them while some course of bloody retribution was being plotted. As posse leaders, the men of the House family had most reason for concern. The patriarch, Daniel David House, had died two years before, but the three House boys who had taken part were very leery of him, especially the eldest son, Bill House.

Rumors drifted like low swamp mist through the Islands that “Colonel” Watson was asking the wrong questions. The local men became more taciturn each time he approached. Braving cold-eyed silences everywhere he went, Lucius did his best to avoid blame or rancor, but the Islanders grew ever more uneasy—indeed, those families which had decried the killing were at least as reticent as those which had participated, or approved it. Some were wary, some were scared, backing inside and shutting the door when they saw Watson’s son coming. He could knock for ten minutes without response, knowing that if he touched the latch, somebody hidden behind that door might blow his head off. That this quiet and soft-spoken man would risk this—that despite the hostility of the community, he kept coming back—was only more proof that “Watson’s boy,” who could “drop a curlew bound downwind with a bullet through the eye,” was “every bit as dangerous as his daddy.”

Yet one by one, by various means—cryptic allusions and sly woman talk, drunk boastful blurtings—he learned the names of “the men who killed Ed Watson,” and from early on, he kept a list, with commentary. Every gleaned scrap of information gave him his excuse to brood over the names, eliminate one, write down another, or simply refine, make more precise, the annotations which kept the list scrupulous and up-to-date. Coming alive, always evolving, the list seemed a justification of his return to the Ten Thousand Islands, reassuring him that what he was doing was research for that abandoned biography which might redeem his father’s name. At the very least, it eased the pain of a lost decade of inaction and self-loathing in which he had forgiven neither his father’s killers (as he still perceived them) nor the Watson sons—Lucius Watson in particular—for failing to find an honorable resolution.

Fed mostly now by stray allusions, random gossip, the list of names with its revisions and deletions, footnotes, comments, and qualifications, grew ever more intricate and complex, as what had begun as a kind of game became obsession. For a few years, he went nowhere without it. The folded packet of lined yellow paper, damp from the subtropical sea air, had gone transparent at the creases from sweat and coffee spills and cooking grease and fish oil, and so specked by rust from tools and hooks and flecked with sundry bread crumbs and tobacco, that Lucius could scarcely decipher the small script and had to write out a fresh copy—a renewal ceremony and a source of secret satisfaction. So long as he kept perfecting it, making certain it was accurate down to the last detail, he would never have to give it up. It filled some void and longing in his life—he knew that. Yet he could not admit this to himself for fear of removing its peculiar healing power, and the order it brought to his wandering mind.

He dreaded finishing the list, not wishing to deal with his inability to act upon it. He did not believe he could take a human life, even in the name of family honor. And though he could accept this, his romantic side would always be disappointed, knowing that the hickory breed of old-time Watsons would have acted forcefully in retribution, never mind the morality or consequences. He longed to talk with his brother Rob, whom he remembered as hotheaded and outspoken—hardly a man to accept family dishonor.

By the end of his first year in the Islands, there were threats. Although afraid, Lucius perceived his potential martyrdom as a resolution of his life, somehow less terrifying than cowardice or weakness. One night he dreamed of the huge crocodile which had lived in Chatham River throughout his boyhood, hauling out on the far bank as if to watch the house. One day it attacked an alligator. When its prey washed up half eaten, Papa said, “That’s not much of a gator anymore.” He spoke balefully, as a cautionary lesson to the younger children, who were only allowed to splash in the river shallows when that fourteen-foot creature was across the river, laying out there like a drift log, in plain view. In his dream Lucius rowed across the river, and the monster had opened its terrible jaws in a slow warning, then risen suddenly on its short legs and thrashed into the current in a great brown, roiling surge. Because he had challenged his own death, it was there just underneath him, awaiting its moment to capsize the skiff and seize him and drag him down. He awoke in horror.

[image: ]

Though he had sense enough to keep his list a secret, the time would come when he was shunned on Chokoloskee Bay. One day on the dock at Everglade, outside Browns’ fish house, he received a warning from “your daddy’s oldest friend” to “stop this snoopin around, for your own damn good.” Kicking dirt hard, Willie Brown said, “I weren’t mixed up in it, and I spoke agin it, but I’m giving you fair warnin all the same. Any of these local men who figures E. J.’s son is out to get him might feel obliged to get that feller first, you take my meanin, Lucius?” Willie Brown, who had called his father E. J., was one of the few who still used Lucius’s real name.

For once, his brother Eddie had been right. The crude warnings and drunken threats were followed by the hornet whine of a bullet across his bow, the echo of a rifle shot across the water. Then one day his boat was sunk on one of his rare visits to Chokoloskee. Hearing of this, the Harden family—the last friends whom he could trust—prevailed on him to head south around Cape Sable and fish out of Flamingo until things cooled down.

During Lucius’s stay in Flamingo, where he lived at the house of his father’s friend Gene Roberts, his brother Rob had come looking for him in Fort Myers. During his brief visit, Rob told the Fort Myers family almost nothing about himself except to say that he was always “on the road” and had no address where he might be located. Rob had learned from Carrie that Miss Lucy Dyer might know their brother’s whereabouts, but all Lucy could tell him was that Lucius might be living near the Harden family at Lost Man’s River. Rob traveled by mail boat, then rowed a skiff for the last twenty miles, from Everglade to Lost Man’s, where Lee Harden, suspicious of this intense stranger (Rob had called himself John Tucker), would only reveal that Lucius Watson was away.
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Returning to Lost Man’s, Lucius was determined to dispense with the useless list he had worked on for so many years, always changing and adjusting and revising, always striving to get closer to the fact, the “truth,” which might permit him to put the thing behind him, and his father, too. He realized that, short of his own death, there was no end to that list, any more than there could be an end to life itself. Far from putting his heart to rest, its very existence had become a burden and a danger, rebuking him not only for his failure to avenge poor Papa but for the folly of his self-banishment to the Islands, and for the huge part of his life which had been wasted. How much better that time might have been spent in a real life with Lucy Dyer, raising children—that was his fresh new dream.

That year, Lucius received word of Walter Langford’s death. He arrived in Fort Myers too late for the funeral. Carrie assured him that she understood, but it was plain that she could not quite forgive him for never having visited or written. “Nobody seriously expected you,” Eddie said sourly. With customary spite, from behind his hand, he informed his younger brother that the President of the First National Bank had “died of drink,” having failed to provide properly for their sister. As for himself, he was prosperously embarked on his own insurance business.

During his visit, Lucius entrusted Lucy Dyer with a packet for Rob Watson in the vain hope that Rob might turn up again. Since he could not bring himself to destroy it, he enclosed the posse list, to avoid any chance of its discovery by the men listed and to be rid of it once and for all. But a few years later, in the course of changing households, Lucy would misplace the packet, as she confessed to Lucius in a letter which also brought word of her recent marriage to old Mr. Summerlin. So stunned was he by her abandonment (he had somehow assumed that his first love would await him forever) that he scarcely noticed her mention of the list.

In the next years, he made a hard sparse living as a hunting and fishing guide and commercial fisherman, and most of the men accepted him again as talk of his list died down. His only trouble came about through his association with the Hardens, whose side he would take in a dangerous feud with the Bay people which had ended in the murder of two Harden sons.
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In 1947, when the Ten Thousand Islands were appropriated for the national park, Lucius moved north to Caxambas. There he found a warm welcome from the women and children of the Daniels-Jenkins clan, whom his father had always spoken of as “my backdoor family.” A decade later he returned to the University of Florida at Gainesville, where he accepted a teaching post as an assistant professor while completing his History of Southwest Florida. In his class was Sally Brown of Everglade, a lovely young woman with long flaxen hair bound loosely with rawhide at her pretty nape who had recently separated from Lee Harden’s son Whidden and returned to college.

Sally made herself wonderfully useful in his work, not only as a researcher but as a source of information on the Island families. Of Everglades pioneer stock on both sides—he had almost forgotten that she was Speck Daniels’s daughter—she had repudiated what she perceived as the racism and redneck ignorance in her community which had made life so dangerous for her husband’s family. But as she ruefully confessed, her fierce tirades in defense of the Hardens had reawakened a lot of the mean gossip which that family imagined had been put to rest, until finally the Hardens themselves rebuked Whidden for not bringing his wife’s tongue under control. For this reason—and others—the marriage had come apart. “My fault,” Sally admitted, making no excuses.

Sally Brown was passionate, intemperate, and very angry (he suspected) for more primal reasons than those that she invoked. Though never certain how much he could trust her version of local events, he liked her because she was generous and wry and because her high opinion of “Mister Colonel” Watson, learned from the Hardens, had made her delightfully affectionate right from the start. Indeed, he felt affectionate himself, and had longed to kiss her from the first day she came by his rooms to say hello.

Lucius had been careful not to flirt with Sally, even in an avuncular sort of way. A courtly and old-fashioned man, he thought his need unnatural, considering their discrepancy in age. He also condemned it as immoral, since he was close to the Harden family and had been a sort of uncle to her husband, back in the early days at Lost Man’s River. Besides, he was unhappily aware of his emotional limitations, which all his life had made him choose loneliness over commitment, no matter how fearful he might be that his one life on earth would pass him by. One night in a bar, he had confessed to the attraction, denouncing himself as “a dirty and villainous old man.” Sally, who had long since known he was attracted, informed him that his whole attitude was ridiculous.

Meanwhile, his History had been well received by the university press, which encouraged him to proceed at once with his biography of E. J. Watson. The proposal specified, however, that a pseudonym be used for both books, since the subject had already been cited in the History as a notable pioneer in Florida agriculture, and the editors questioned the suitability of extolling the author’s father in both volumes, all the more so when this parent—as they not so subtly reminded him—was indelibly associated in the public mind with something else. Thinking it dishonorable to hide behind another name, he withdrew the History.

Sally Brown had applauded his intention to mend his father’s reputation, all the more so since E. J. Watson had always been a good friend to Whidden’s family, and like those Harden boys down at Shark River, had been “murdered in cold blood by those damned rednecks.” And it was Sally who finally persuaded him that a pen name was preferable to abandoning his project or damning his father with faint praise. Together they constructed a “family” pseudonym, L. Watson Collins. A year later, when the History was published, L. Watson Collins moved back to Caxambas, where he set to work on the biography, and placed the ads requesting information on his subject which would produce the Bill House deposition.
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One day at the crossroads store where he picked up his mail, Lucius received a formal letter requesting that he get in touch with Watson Dyer, in Miami. Attorney Dyer notified him that his father’s house was now officially scheduled for demolition by the National Park Service and offered his own services to help protect it.

In the early years, Dyer explained, the Park had not bothered with the Watson Place, since its first task had been the construction of paved roads and facilities between Homestead and Flamingo that would open the eastern region to the tourists. But now, pursuant to Park policy that “the region be returned to its natural condition as a wilderness,” all sign of man was to be eradicated, even the rain cisterns and fruit-bearing trees. The old camps and shacks at Flamingo and Cape Sable, together with those at the river mouths and on the outer islands on the Gulf, had already been destroyed, and the Watson house on Chatham Bend was the only house left standing in the Islands except for the shack of an old loner who had been granted a life tenancy on Possum Key and the Earl Harden cabin at Lost Man’s River, which had been taken over as a ranger station.

Although Lucius had heard these rumors from Speck Daniels, the formal notice was an unpleasant surprise, for the first and last house ever built on Chatham River would always be what his heart told him was home. Letter in hand, he strode angrily to the pay telephone outside the store. Over a bad line, after stiff greetings, Lucius demanded, “What do those idiots mean by ‘natural condition’? Before Indian settlement or after? Before which Indians? Do they hope to wipe out every trace of the Calusa? Those Calusa canals? It would cost millions just to fill them in, in all that backcountry! And how do they propose to level and fill without gouging more scars on a fragile landscape than they were trying to eliminate in the first place? If the Park wants the Watson Place back the way it was, it will have to bulldoze all forty acres of Chatham Bend into the river, because the Bend is nothing but shell mound, don’t they realize that? One huge Indian midden, built by human hands!”

Like an unseen presence in the room, the lawyer’s silence commanded him to be still. In a moment, Dyer said, “Indians don’t count.” The voice was less ironic or cynical than plain indifferent.

So far as the lawyer could determine, the Watson family had gone uncompensated for the claim on Chatham Bend, which in the aftermath of the great scandal at the time of the claimant’s death, none of his descendants had seen fit to pursue. If the Watson claim was valid, the old house might still be spared, and the land awarded legal status as an inholding within the Park for which life tenure, at least, might be negotiated. Could Lucius give him family authority to pursue this matter?

“I’m afraid I can’t afford a lawyer—”

“Pro bono,” Dyer said. “Sentimental reasons.” He reminded Lucius that he had been born at Chatham Bend and had been named after the claimant. In fact, he was just the man to represent the family, since his practice specialized in real estate law. He was well-informed about inholding cases and had excellent contacts, state and federal, which might prove useful. For the moment, all he required from the family was power of attorney, in order to file for a court injunction against any attempt by the Park to burn the house before the status of the claim could be ascertained.

All right, said Lucius. But should the decision be left to him, he would gladly waive all claim to an inholding if the Park would simply restore the house and take good care of it—make it a historic monument, perhaps, to pioneer days in southwest Florida, the home of the pioneer cane planter E. J. Watson.

He awaited a comment, which was not forthcoming. Watson Dyer sighed, then proceeded to observe that this proposal would be stronger once the claim was validated, since an offer of waiver before the claim had been reinstituted could only undermine its legal standing. Lucius was not certain he had grasped just what was meant, but he promised Dyer he would do his best to enlist the support of the surviving heirs. Excited, he also assured him that any claim that would protect the house could count on strong support from the numerous local families which had occupied the house at various periods since Watson’s death. Those old Island pioneers knew the historical value of that house, he said, more and more enthusiastic, and many others were bound to speak up, too! He could go talk with them!

“Perhaps even the Dyer family will speak up,” the lawyer said, forcing a strange hard snort of laughter.

“Yes. The Dyers, too,” Lucius said doubtfully. So far as he knew, Dyer’s mother was dead, and Dyer and his sister Lucy were not speaking, and the father, Fred Dyer, had been estranged from his children for years.

In Dyer’s professional opinion (he chose that phrase), the Watson Claim could not be vacated or summarily dismissed if Watson’s heirs lent their support to it in writing. Well, said Lucius, Rob was dead, and Carrie and Eddie would want no part of anything that might stir scandal from the past, and Addison, who was not yet four when his father was killed, had been given his new stepfather’s name the following year and might not even know he was a Watson. As for the two younger sisters—

“Looks like it’s up to you, then,” Dyer said smoothly, bringing the call to a quick end. “You’ll be hearing from me.” By cutting off the conversation before anything substantive had been decided, he made Lucius feel restless and a bit disturbed. He could not get a feel for Dyer, nor could he imagine what the man might look like. Surely he looked nothing at all like his gentle sister. How odd that neither of them mentioned Lucy, who years ago had been his dearest friend.

Arbie

Returning home that afternoon, Lucius was met on the dock by the molasses reek of a cheap stogie. In the tattered hammock on the houseboat deck, an old man in red baseball cap and an Army-surplus overcoat lay sifting pages, the bent cigar a-glower between his teeth. In the corner lay a dog-eared satchel. Before Lucius could speak, the old man removed the cigar and spat bits of cheap tobacco leaf, the better to recite from his host’s manuscript notes on Leslie Cox.

“ ‘… an old man known by some other name may still squint in the sun, and sniff, and revile his fate.’ Same way I write! Not bad at all!” He rested Lucius’s papers on his belly. “Arbie Collins is the name,” he said, pointing his finger at Lucius’s eyes by way of renouncing that old drunk at Gator Hook and presenting a new, respectable identity. “Yep,” he said. “I had this idea about Cox before you even thought about it. Folks said Cox had been seen down at Key West, and another time right in the river park there at Fort Myers. Then I heard from this Injun friend of mine who used to be a drunk up around Orlando—”

“Billie Jimmie, you mean?”

Arbie Collins shook him off, impatient.

“—that a feller who met Cox’s description had been holed up for years out on the Loop Road. That’s why I went out there in the first place, to hunt down that sonofabitch, ask him some questions. Never found hide nor hair of him. Ran out of money, never made it back.” He resumed reading.

“What did you plan to do if you had found him?”

Arbie Collins lowered the manuscript. “Same thing you did with that posse list of yours,” he snapped. “Pass the dirty job along to someone else.” Scowling hard, he hunched down again behind the pages.

“You saw that list?”

“Rob Watson showed it to me.”

“I never knew that Rob ever received it!”

Arbie Collins scoffed, using the manuscript page to wave him off. Every old cracker in southwest Florida had a story about that list, he said. The only man who thought that thing was secret was the fool who made it. He winked at Lucius, blowing smoke, then claimed he’d found the list among Rob’s papers.

“You’re the one who showed it to Speck Daniels.”

The old man nodded. One evening out at Gator Hook, noticing the name Crockett Daniels on the list, he’d called it to Speck’s attention as a joke.

“Speck think it was funny?”

“No, he sure didn’t.”

“Mr. Collins? I’d like that list back.”

The old man resumed reading, raising the page to hide his face. “That list is the lawful property of Robert B. Watson, who left his estate to me.”

Lucius sat down carefully on a blue canvas chair. “Are we related? Through the Collinses in Fort White?” This old man, washed and clean-shaven, reminded him of his Collins cousins—slightly built and volatile, black-haired, with heart-red mouths and pale, fair skin.

“Sure looks like it!” Arbie waved the title page, derisive. “ ‘L. Watson Collins, Ph.D.’!”

Sheepishly, Lucius explained that the publishers had insisted on a pseudonym and also on citing his degree. That “Ph.D.” was ridiculous; he had not bothered to attend his graduation, much less used his title. In fact, he was not really an historian—

“A historian.” Arbie grinned slyly at his host’s surprise.

This raffish old man was somewhat educated. He was also careless, dropping and creasing pages, flicking ash on them. Finally Lucius stood up and crossed the deck and snapped his notes off Arbie Collins’s stomach, exposing the white navel hair that sprouted through the soiled and semibuttonless plaid shirt. “You certainly make yourself at home!” he said.

“Well, I’m a guest. You invited me, remember? You sure don’t act too glad to see me—”

“I don’t like people rooting through my notes—”

“I found ’em.” Arbie Collins sat up with a grunt and swung his broken boots onto the deck. “Right where you left ’em, on the table inside. And they look to me like notes for a damn whitewash.” He stood up spryly and performed a loose-boned shuffle, snapping his fingers. “ ‘Notes on the Ol’ Family Skeleton.’ ” He cackled. “Clackety-click.” Like a skeleton danced on a string, the old man shuffled jerkily through the screen door. In a moment he was back, lugging a big loose weary carton. “The Arbie Collins Ar-chive,” he announced, setting it down.

Politely, Lucius rummaged through the carton, in which dog-eared folders stuffed with clippings were mixed with scrawled notes copied out of magazines and books—mostly lurid synopses and brimstone damnations from the tabloids, dating all the way back to the newspaper reports from October and November of 1910. Most of the items were well-known to Lucius—the usual “Bloody Watson” trash, all headline and no substance. None was as interesting as the fact that this old man had made a lifelong hobby of Ed Watson.

One coffee-stained packet of yellowed clippings slid from Lucius’s lap to the porch floor. Retrieving it, he recognized the top clipping in the packet, which had come from the official tourist guide to the state of Florida—ripped from a library copy, from the look of it. It described how the young widow Edna Watson, informed by her husband’s executioners that she might reclaim the cadaver by following the rope strung from its neck to a nearby tree, had inquired coldly, “Where is his gold watch?” That was certainly not poor Edna’s character, and anyway Papa had sold that watch to help pay off his legal debts, as Edna knew.

Disgusted, he put the packet down, asking the old man how he had met Rob Watson. Arbie explained that he had helped his cousin Rob escape his father on a freighter out of Key West after E. J. Watson’s murder of those poor Tucker people back in 1901. He was the only relative, he said, whom the grateful Rob had stayed in touch with till the day he died.

“Alleged murder of the Tuckers,” Lucius corrected him. “It was never proven. E. J. Watson was never even charged.”

Arbie hurled his cigar butt at a swallow that was coursing for mosquitoes over the spartina grass along the creek. “L. Watson Fuckin Collins, Ph.D.!” he yelled. “Too bad poor Rob is not alive to hear his brother say something as bone stupid as that!” The old man was fairly shivering with fury. “Before you go to writing up this damn whitewash of yours, you better talk to the Harden men, talk to that black feller Henry Short, cause they were the ones who had to deal with the damned bodies!”

Calmly, Lucius returned the subject to Rob Watson, who had ended up a hobo, Arbie told him. “Seems to me he was always on the road. Rob never had an address, had no bank account, never paid taxes in his life. Never had to, cause they had no record of him—he was never on the books!”

For many years, Rob had worked as a “professional driver”—“the first professional in the U.S.A. to drive an auto more than twenty miles an hour.” Thanks to his road flair and big company limousine, Rob had been much in demand in the night liquor trade. He had finally been offered “a lucrative position in that industry.” In Prohibition, he became a trucker, and in later years, he operated an enormous mobile auto crusher in which he had traveled up and down the county roads all over the South, compacting car bodies and selling the product to small steel mills on small ruined rivers at the edges of the small cities of America.

According to Arbie, Rob had died but a few years before, in the basement of the Young Men’s Christian Association in Orlando. He had left strict instructions for cremation, and the YMCA had sent along his urn. Arbie pointed at the urn in the houseboat window. Asked how the YMCA had known where to send it, the old man looked furious, and Lucius decided to let it go. “Rob never married?” he asked. “Never had children?”

“Nosir,” the old man muttered, yawning. “That was the only bad mistake Robert Watson never made.” Sneezing, he lifted his red foulard to wipe his bristly chin. “After Rob died, I wanted to carry him back home to Columbia County, but about that time my auto quit—that pink one in the weeds at Gator Hook?—so I never got around to it.” He measured Lucius. “I thought maybe we could go up there in yours.”

They went inside. Lucius poured whiskey, and they toasted their meeting silently and drank, and he poured again. Ceremonious, he set the urn on a white cloth on the small table between them, placing beside it a pot of red geraniums, grown on his cabin roof. The old man observed this ritual with cold contempt.

Considering the urn, they drank in silence, in the play of light and water from the creek. That this cheap canister contained all that was left of handsome Rob made Lucius melancholy. The family would have to be notified, but who would care? “Rob came to find me years ago but I never saw him,” he said finally. “I haven’t laid eyes on him since I was eleven.”

“You might not care to lay eyes on what’s in here.” The old man picked up the urn and turned it in his hands, and a mean grimace crossed his face. “Cause it don’t look like much.” Watching Lucius, he shifted his hands to the top and bottom of the container and shook it like a cocktail shaker. “Hear him rattlin in there? Folks talk about ashes, but there’s no ashes, it’s just chunks and bits of old brown bone, like dog crackers.” He shook the urn again, to prove it.

“Don’t do that, damn it!”

Lucius took the urn from the old man and returned it to the table, and Arbie laughed. “Rob doesn’t care,” he said.

“Well, I care. It’s disrespectful.”

“Disrespectful.” Arbie shrugged, already thinking about something else. “One of these days, you can carry that thing north to Columbia County, see if there’s any room for him up that way.” He cocked his head. “I was thinking we could maybe go together.”
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That evening, with a grin and flourish, Arbie produced a letter clipped from the Florida History page of The Miami Herald. Its author, he said, was D. M. Herlong, “a pioneer physician in this state,” who had known Edgar Watson as a boy in Edgefield County, South Carolina, and had later become a Watson neighbor in Fort White, Florida. Concluding some strenuous throat hydraulics with a salutary spit, the old man launched forth on a dramatic reading, but within a few lines, he gave this up and turned the trembling paper over to Lucius.


He inherited his savage nature from his father, who was widely known as a fighter. In one of his many fights he was given a knife wound that almost encircled one eye, and was known thereafter as Ring-Eye Lige Watson. At one time he was a warden at the state penitentiary.

He married and two children were born to them, Edgar and Minnie. The woman had to leave Watson on account of his brutality and dissolute habits. She moved to Columbia County, Florida, where she had relatives.



Gleeful, Arbie watched his face. “Probably stuff like that is of no interest to serious historians like L. Watson Collins, Ph.D.”

Dr. Herlong went on to describe Edgar Watson’s arrest for murder in the Fort White region, and Lucius read more and more slowly as he went along. Arbie was waiting for him when he raised his eyes.

“We heading for Columbia County, Professor?”

Lucius nodded. “You think Herlong has these details right? Like ‘Ring-Eye Lige’?” Just saying that name aloud made him laugh in pleased astonishment. What he held in his hand was his first real clue to his father’s early years, which Papa had rarely mentioned. Since the drunken Ring-Eye, home from war, had been abusive to his wife, it seemed quite reasonable to suppose that he’d beaten his children, too.

Because Old Man Collins’s bias against Watson seemed so rancorous and powerful, the historian evoked the tradition of violence in which young Edgar Watson had been raised in South Carolina. According to his research for the biography, the Cherokee Wars preceding the first settlement had given way to a wild anarchy imposed upon the countryside by marauding highwaymen and outlaws, followed by the bloodiest, most bitter fighting of the Revolutionary War, with neighbor against neighbor in a dark and gruesome civil strife of a ferocity unmatched in the nation’s history. The sons of these intemperate colonials would be noted for their headlong participation in the War of 1812, then the Mexican War, while maintaining high standards of mayhem there at home. In 1816, President George Washington’s chronicler Parson Mason Weems, revisiting this community, which he had served formerly as Episcopal priest, began his account with “Old Edgefield again! Another murder in Edgefield!… It must be Pandemonium itself, a very District of Devils!” In the fifteen years preceding the Civil War, in a rural settlement of less than one hundred scattered households, some thirty-nine people had died violently, nearly half of them slaves killed by their masters. And all of this tumult, Lucius told the old man, had taken place within a single century! By every account, Edgefield District had been far and away the most unregenerate and bloody-minded in the Carolinas, leading the South in pro-slavery violence and secessionist vendettas, feuds, duels, lynchings, grievous bodily assaults, and common murders.

Edgar Watson’s father, it appeared, had gone off to the “War of Northern Aggression” as a common soldier, which suggested that he had fallen from the landed gentry. Three years later, still a private, he was mustered out of the Confederate Army, by which time he apparently had lost the last of his property and inheritance. From Herlong’s account, it was easy to infer that Lige Watson had been touchy, full of rage, and more likely than most to resent the freed blacks who were now his peers. And as a drinker, Lucius supposed, he might well have taken out his hatreds and frustrations on the hide of his young son who, according to Granny Ellen Watson, had scavenged the family food throughout the War while receiving only rudimentary schooling. Even after the War, jobs had been scarce, child labor cheap, and the family poor and desperate, and the boy had toiled from dawn to dark at the whim of some dirt farmer’s stick. Her son’s travail and punishment had only been intensified by the return of the distempered father.

In the shadowed wake of war, its soil exhausted, the Southern countryside lay mortified beneath its shroud of anarchy and dust. And how much more galling Reconstruction must have seemed to an impoverished war veteran, for even in his reduced circumstances, Lige Watson would retain those grandiose ideas of Southern honor and the Great Lost Cause which would fire the bigotry of the meanest redneck for decades to come.

Throughout this dissertation, Arbie glowered like a coal. He did not speak.

Surely, Lucius reasoned mildly, the dark temper of this district had infected the outlook and behavior of the ill-starred Edgar, who had been but six when the War began and reached young manhood in the famine-haunted days of Reconstruction—

The old man whipped around upon him with a glare of real malevolence. “Dammit, you are just making excuses! Think I don’t know what you are up to?” Gat-toothed and bristle-browed, hoarse with emphysema, Arbie yanked his cap down harder on his head. This ferocious elder might be rickety and pale, but he was no man to be trifled with. The glint in his deep eyes was now a glimmer, but his strong silver-black hair and rakish burnsides, with their hard swerve toward the corner of his mouth, asserted a wild intransigence and even menace.

“Reconstruction!” He was seized by a fit of coughing. “Mr. Ed J. Watson never got reconstructed, I can tell you that much!” He cackled savagely, hoping to give offense, but Lucius winced merely to humor him and continued his mild-mannered reflections on that dark period after the War when the Northerners ran the South, put blacks in office—

“The darkie period, you mean? Burr-head niggers in yeller boots, lording it over the white folks, giving the orders?”

Already, Lucius had intuited that despite that rasping tongue, hell-bent on outrage, Arbie Collins was an inveterate defender of the underdog, including—perhaps especially—the underdog of darker color. What infuriated this old man was any perceived defense of E. J. Watson. “Who are you to preach to me about Reconstruction?” he was hollering. “I was born in Reconstruction, practically! Scalawags and carpetbaggers! And after Reconstruction came Redemption, when we run those suckers right out of the South!” Slyly amused by his own fury, Arbie had to struggle to maintain its pitch. Within moments, his passion spent, a boyish smile broke his hunched face wide open. His quickness to set his snappishness aside, Lucius reflected, was one of his very few endearing qualities.

Arbie Collins, by his own description, was “a hopeless drunk and lifelong drifter,” and Lucius Watson was coming to suspect—from the man’s pallor and side-of-the-mouth speech and odd allusions—that a good part of his life had been spent in prison. For his arrival at Caxambas, he had perked up his worn clothes with a red rag around his throat like a jaunty sort of backcountry foulard. Lucius was touched by this flare of color, this small gallantry.

“You’re a hard feller, all right.” Lucius smiled, already fond of him.

“L. Watson Collins, P-H-D!” The old man spat hard to fend off his host’s affection.

Since the Herlong letter indicated that Edgar Watson had been raised in northern Florida, Granny Ellen must have fled there with her children not long after the 1870 census, when Papa was fifteen. The relative who took them in had been Great-Aunt Tabitha Watson, who had accompanied her married daughter to the Fort White region. By the mid-eighties, when Dr. Herlong’s father moved south to that community, Elijah Watson back in Edgefield was already notorious as Ring-Eye Lige.

Arbie reached to take his clipping back, grinning foxily when Lucius appeared loath to give it up. “This Herlong knew about Ed Watson’s checkered past, no doubt about it,” Arbie assured him, “because Herlongs lived less than a mile from Watsons in both Edgefield and Fort White. Got some Herlongs in those Fort White woods even today.”

Lucius nodded, intent on the details. Besides providing clues for systematic research, this Herlong reminiscence was complementary to an account of Watson’s later life by his father’s friend Ted Smallwood, which had turned up in recent years in a history of Chokoloskee Bay. Both brief memoirs had been set down nearly a half century after Edgar Watson’s death, and yet—and this excited Lucius most—these separate narratives by two men who had never met were nowhere contradictory, and therefore more dependable than any material he had come across so far.

Returning the clipping to the old man, who was all but transcendent with self-satisfaction, the historian promised to acknowledge “the Arbie Collins Archive” in his bibliography and notes. Though Arbie would not admit it, the prospect of seeing his name in print delighted the old archivist, persuading him that he, too, was an historian of record, and that his lifelong pursuit of Watsoniana had been worthwhile research after all.

The two Watson authorities soon agreed that they must go to Columbia County to complete their research on their common subject. Given the makeshift life of frontier Florida, the chances of finding significant data by rummaging through old records seemed remote indeed. However, they might hope to locate some Collins kinsmen who might talk with them, and perhaps some old-timers who could claim a few dim reminiscences of the Watson era. But when Lucius invited Arbie to accompany him on a later visit to the house at Chatham Bend, which the Park Service was threatening to burn down, Arbie shook his head. “Not interested,” he said.

It was understood (though they had not spoken of it) that Caxambas had become Arbie Collins’s home. In the next days, the old man remained more or less sober, working happily to reorganize his rough data. “I been updating my archives, Professor,” he might say, picking up one of Lucius’s pipes and pointing the pipe stem at its bemused owner. Clearing his throat and frowning pompously, weighing his words in what he imagined was an academic manner, the old man sorted his scrofulous yellow scraps. “ ‘Bad Man of the Islands,’ ” he read out with satisfaction, “ ‘Red-bearded Knife Artist.’ How’s that for data?” Slyly he would frown and harrumph, pointing the pipe. “Speaking strictly as a scholar now, L. Watson, that man’s beard was not real red. It was more auburn, sir. More the color of dried blood.”

“Clearly a consequence of his inveterate habit of dipping his beard in the lifeblood of his victims,” Lucius observed, taking back his pipe. He was having great fun with this bad old man. At the same time, he took pains not to feed an anarchic streak which flickered like heat lightning in Arbie’s brain, and sometimes cracked the surface of his eye.

“That could be, L. Watson. That could be, sir.”
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